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STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

The directors present their strategic report on the Group and Company for the year ended 31 December
2015.

Results for the year
The results of the Group are set out in the consolidated income statement on page 12 which shows a
profit from continuing operations before taxation for the year of €60.5 million (2014: €354.1 million).

Review of business developments

During 2015 the Group continued to focus on developing its portfolio of businesses, with a particular
focus on Styrolution and oil and gas assets both in the North Sea and onshore in the United Kingdom.

INEOS Styrolution is the leading global styrenics supplier with a focus on styrene monomer,

- polystyrene, ABS and styrenics specialities. In March 2015 the Group combined the operations of the
INEOS Styrolution and INEOS ABS US businesses. The combination will enable INEOS Styrolution
to promote all of their products globally and represent one face to the market. INEOS Styrolution had
a record performance in 2015 with a significant increase in operating profits. The improved
profitability was due to an increase in sales volumes and higher margins with robust demand in North
America and Asia, together with tight supply conditions in Europe due to a number of unplanned
competitor outages.

INEOS Upstream operates the Group's onshore and offshore oil and gas activities in the UK. In May
2015 the Group acquired a 50% interest in seven of IGas' shale gas licences in the North West of
England, together with their interest in the licence around Grangemouth, Scotland, which gave the
Group full ownership of this asset. During 2015 the Group acquired a significant number of shale gas
licences in the UK Government's 14th licensing round. The majority of these licences are located in
North West England, North Yorkshire and the East Midlands. In October 2015 the Group acquired a
25% interest in the Clipper South gas field in the North Sea from Fairfield Energy. In November 2015
the Group acquired a portfolio of natural gas assets including parts of the Breagh and Clipper South
fields in the North Sea from DEA AG, part of the LetterOne Group. The acquisitions from Fairfield
and DEA were funded by a $625 million loan facility from INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party.

INEOS Bio uses advanced bioenergy technology to convert waste and non food crop biomass in to
biofuel and renewable power. The sustained collapse in crude oil prices since 2014 has made biofuel
uncompetitive as an alternative fuel source in North American markets. The operations of the Vero
Beach plant have improved during 2015, but have not reached a stage of reliable, long term production.
The Group now considers this is unlikely to be successful without further significant capital investment.
The Group has therefore chosen to either sell or exit the Bio business by the end 0of 2016. As a result
of this, the Group has fully impaired both the plant and equipment of the Vero Beach site and the
outstanding loans made to INEOS Bio SA, a related party. The total impairment charge in 2015

relating to the Bio business was €267.7 million.

The Group's other smaller businesses of Mélamines, Chlorotoluenes, Styrenics EPS and Grangemouth
CHP all performed satisfactorily in 2015.

The Group's strategy is to develop its portfolio of businesses further with its main focus continuing to
be on Styrolution and the Upstream businesses.

Subsequent events

On 6 May 2016 the Group announced that it had reached an agreement in principle to sell the INEOS
Styrenics business to Synthos S.A. for €80 million. INEOS Styrenics produces Expandable
Polystyrene ('EPS'). The transaction is expected to complete in the third quarter of 2016 and is subject
to approval from the relevant competition authorities.



STRATEGIC REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Principal risks and uncertainties
The management of the business and the execution of the Group’s strategy are subject to a number of
risks. The key business risks affecting the Group are set out below:

e  The petrochemical and gas extraction industries are cyclical — changing market demands and
prices may negatively affect the Group’s operating margins and impair its cash flow which, in
turn, could affect its ability to make payments on its debt or to make further investments in the
business.

e Raw materials and suppliers — if the Group is unable to pass on increases in raw material
prices, or to retain or replace its key suppliers, its results of operations may be negatively
affected.

e International operations and currency fluctuations — the Group is exposed to currency
fluctuation risks as well as to economic downturns and local business risks in several different
countries that could adversely affect its profitability.

e  Competition — significant competition in the Group’s industries, whether through efforts of
' new and current competitors or through consolidation of existing customers, may adversely
affect its competitive position, sales and overall operations.

e Inability to maximize utilization of assets — the Group may be adversely affected if it is
unable to implement its strategy to maximize utilization of assets.

e Synergies — the Group may not realize anticipated revenue and cost synergies, benefit from
anticipated business opportunities or experience anticipated growth from any of its
acquisitions.

e Substantial leverage — if interest rates rise or trading performance deteriorates the Group's
substantial debt burden increases the risk for the Group's position and performance.

Key performance indicators

The main KPI of the business is earnings before interest, taxation, depreciation, amortisation and
exceptional items ("EBITDA"). Management closely monitors EBITDA compared to budget and prior
year. Details of actual and comparative EBITDA results are provided below:

2015 2014
€m

Operating profit/(10SS) .........cccooivviiiiiiiiniiiicecee 221.1 49.3)
Depreciation for the year..............cccociiiiininiiiiiiie e, 173.9 39.1
Exceptional impairment charge..........c.ccooceiiiiniiccinninninniciiccnen. 128.8 -
Amortisation charge for the year............cccceceieniivccencnnnecncn. 113.8 16.6
Exceptional administrative eXpenses ............cccooceevevininiiniinnicinnnnnnneas 173.1 25.8
EBITDA 810.7 322

On behalf of the Board:

G Leask
Director
31 May 2016



DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

The directors present their report and audited consolidated and company financial statements of the
Group and the Company for the year ended 31 December 2015.

Principal activities

The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals used in a
variety of applications and the exploration, development and production of natural gas.

Financial risk management

The Group’s operations expose it to a variety of financial risks that include the effects of changes in
price risk, credit risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk. The Group has in place a risk management
programme that seeks to limit the adverse effects on the financial performance of the Group where
appropriate. The Group is exposed to commodity price risk as a result of its operations and seeks to
mitigate this risk through various purchasing strategies. The Group manages its credit exposures with a
set of policies for ongoing credit checks on potential and current customers or counterparties. See Note
22 of the financial statements for information on financial instruments, interest risk, liquidity risk and
foreign currency risk.

Research and development

The Group’s research and development team develops new applications for its higher margin and less
cyclical speciality chemicals, provides support to the Group’s customers and seeks to improve the
efficiency of the Group’s manufacturing processes. The research and development team also leads the
Group’s efforts with respect to the development and capacity expansions of the plants and maintaining
and improving safety and environmental standards. The Group spent approximately €18.3 million
(2014: €7.2 million) on research and development during the year.

Dividends

The directors of the Company have proposed and paid a dividend of €11.3 million (€57.22 per share)
during the year (2014: €4.0 million).

Political and charitable contributions

As part of its ongoing investment programme, INEOS Industries Limited and its subsidiaries actively
support a variety of initiatives in communities in which it operates. Charitable donations made during
the year amounted to €28,500 (2014: €nil) for a variety of charitable purposes. Neither the Company
nor its subsidiary undertakings made any donations or subscriptions for political purposes.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015
Directors

The directors who held office during the year and up to the date of signing of the financial statements
were as follows:

- Mr G Leask
Mr J Ginns

Employees

The Group has developed voluntary practices and procedures for employee involvement appropriate to
their own circumstances and needs. The Group encourages this approach to provide information and
consultation and believes that this promotes a better understanding of the issues facing the individual
business in which the employee works. The Group places considerable value on the involvement of its
employees and keeps them informed on matters affecting them as employees and on the various factors
affecting the performance of the Group by issuing communications on the Group intranet and holding
employee information meetings hosted by the board and operating a bonus scheme linked to the
business performance. The Group consults employees or their representatives through the works
council on a regular basis so that the views of employees can be taken into account in making decisions
that are likely to affect their interests.

The Group gives full consideration to applications for employment from disabled persons where the
requirements of the job can be adequately fulfilled by a handicapped or disabled person. Where
existing employees become disabled, it is the Group’s policy wherever practicable to provide
continuing employment under normal terms and conditions and to provide training and career
development and promotion wherever appropriate.

Health and safety

Our facilities and operations are subject to a wide range of health, safety, security and environmental
(“HSSE”) laws and regulations in all of the jurisdictions in which we operate. These requirements
govern, among other things, the manufacture, storage, handling, treatment, transportation and disposal
of hazardous substances and wastes, wastewater discharges, air emissions (including GHG emissions),
noise emissions, human health and safety, process safety and risk management and the clean-up of
contaminated sites. Many of our operations require permits and controls to monitor or prevent
pollution. We have incurred, and will continue to incur, substantial ongoing capital and operating
expenditures to ensure compliance with current and future HSSE laws, regulations and permits or the
more stringent enforcement of such requirements.

Our operations are currently in material compliance with all HSSE laws, regulations and permits. We
actively address compliance issues in connection with our operations and properties and we believe
that we have systems in place to ensure that environmental costs and liabilities will not have a material
adverse impact on us. ‘

Statement of directors’ responsibilities

The directors are responsible for preparing the Strategic Report, Directors’ Report and the consolidated
and company financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations.

Company law requires the directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that
law-the directors have prepared the Group financial statements in accordance with International

~ Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRSs”), as adopted by the European Union, and the parent Company
financial statements in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practices
(United Kingdom Accounting Standards and applicable law), including FRS 101 Reduced Framework
Disclosure.



DIRECTORS’ REPORT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Under company law the directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied
that they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and its subsidiaries and of the
profit or loss of the Company for that year.

In preparing these financial statements, the directors are required to:

e select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;
e make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent;

e state whether applicable IFRSs as adopted by the European Union and applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed and
explained in the Group and Company financial statements respectively;

e notify the shareholders about the use of disclosures exemptions if any, of FRS 101 used in the
preparation of these financial statements; and

e prepare the financial statements on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to
presume that the Group and/or Company will continue in business.

The directors are responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial
position of the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements comply with the
Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company and hence
for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

Disclosure of information to auditors
Each of the persons who is a director at the date of approval of these financial statements confirms that:
(i) so far as each director is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Company’s

auditors are unaware.

(ii) each director has taken all the steps that he ought to have taken in his duty as director in order to
make himself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that the Company’s auditors
are aware of that information.

This confirmation is given and should be interpreted in accordance with the provisions of section 418
of the Companies Act 2006.

Independent auditors

The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated their willingness to continue in office and a
resolution that they will be reappointed will be proposed at the annual general meeting.

By order of the Board:

Y S Ali

Company Secretary

31 May 2016

Registered number 6959146
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Report on the group financial statements

Our opinion
In our opinion, INEOS Industries Limited’s group financial statements (the “finrancial statements”):

e give atrue and fair view of the state of the group’s affairs as at 31 December 2015 and of its loss
and cash flows for the year then ended;

¢ have been properly prepared in accordance with International Financial Reportmg Standards
(“IFRSs”) as adopted by the European Union; and

e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Compames Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Directors' Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report”), comprise:

the consolidated balance sheet as at 31 December 2015;
the consolidated income statement and consolidated statement of comprehensive income for
the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended;
the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

o the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements is
IFRSs as adopted by the European Union, and applicable law.

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
have made assumptions and considered future events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Adequacy of information and explanations received

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have not received
all the information and explanations we require for our audit. We have no exceptions to report arising
from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from this
responsibility.

Responsibilities for the financial statements and the
audit

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors' responsibilities set out on pages 7 and 8, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view.



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:

e whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the group’s circumstances and have been
consisténtly applied and adequately disclosed;

e the reasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

e the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we
consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us
in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material rnlsstatements or
1ncon51sten01es we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the company financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

ot

Ian Marsden (Senior Statutory Author)

for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newcastle upon Tyne

31 May 2016
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" Profit before taxation

CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Revenue

Cost of sales before exceptional items.............cccooieiiiinincccnnninn,
Exceptional impairment Charge ..........coovviniiieniinecniccincccnes
Total coSt Of SAIES....c.cerriieiiiireiieniicniee e
Gross profit
DiStEIDULION COSES......veeerreerieenieriiiecite et et eeereneesnsesaeesbeseannas

Administrative EXPENSES........ceeeueeuerueeerercrreeiereenesiessessessesseasenas
Exceptional administrative expenses....

Total adminiStrative EXPenSes .........cccueevvviernireruiereeniesieeeieeeiee

TOAl EXPENSES ...cveureuerreeercenieeririrtitesisaeieiesereese et en st s ebesnens

Operating profit/(loss)
" Share of profit of associates and jointly controlled entities using
the equity accounting method........

Profit on disposal of investment
Profit on disposal of fixed assets.........ccceceviviieviininiinninnes
Profit before net finance costs

FINANCE INCOME ....eneeeeeeeeeeieeeciiieeeieeeeeeeeernreesseesessesaraaeenaaeeessens
FINANCE COSES c.iinnrnnnirrieeeeeiieiireeeaeeeieeeereatreeenssnssnsssrraaseaeeeerasonsnsne
NEL fINANCE COSL..oiiimeiiierieeeietieeeeieiireeereeeetee e senae e semstaesesmraeeeanns

Tax (charge)/credit
(Loss)/profit for the year

Attributable to:
OWNETS Of PATENT ....c.coiieirieieiciniecteiei et

Non-controlling interest .........ccccccovveiiiiiniiinienie e
(Loss)/profit for the year

2015 2014
5,900.8 1,473.9
(4,868.4) (1,417.8) .
(128.8) -
(4,997.2) (1,471.8)
903.6 56.1
(246.9) (57.2)
(262.5) (22.4)
(173.1) (25.8)
(435.6) (48.2)
(682.5) (105.4)
221.1 49.3)

- 54.8
- 405.4
0.1 -
221.2 4109
9.8 88
(170.5) (65.6)
(160.7) (56.8)
60.5 354.1
(106.4) 42.7
(45.9) 396.8
(38.7) 406.4
(7.2) (9.6)
(45.9) 396.8

The notes on pages 18 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

(Loss)/profit for the year

Other comprehensive income/(expense):

Items that will not be recycled to profit or loss:

Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations net of tax......
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures .

Items that may subsequently be recycled to profit or loss:
Foreign exchange translation differences, net of tax ...........ccccovevvevennne.
Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint ventures .

Reclassification of share of other comprehensive income of joint
75 1 110 ) ¢ OO PN

Other comprehensive income for the year, net of tax..........cceeuuneee

Total comprehensive income for the year

The notes on pages 18 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Note

2015 2014
€m

(45.9) 396.8

38 (12.6)

- (2.0)

3.8 (14.6)

109.0 24.7

- 45.0

- (16.6)

109.0 53.1

112.8 38.5

66.9 4353




CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment

Intangible asSets ........covvevveeiiniiiiiiinec
Investments in equity-accounted inVestees. .........cceeuerveenne,
Trade and other receivables..........ccooeeiiniiicincniiiiiinnns

Other financial assets............ceeeeviieeeriieeerirenieeeeeeee e reeee

Current assets

[NVENEOTIES ... ..eeiieeieceiieeeciiee et te et s eeese e s rra e e s eanns
Trade and other receivables...........cooceeviivceeneeerieeeiiecnnen,
Tax receivables. .....covciiinieeeeeeeeee et

Cash and cash equivalents

Total assets

Equity attributable to owners of the parent
Share capital ........c.ccveeereicinerciiie e
OLher TESEIVES......ovviireieeriirieeieteeiece ettt

Retained €arnings ........cccooviivineinenniieerieieiieeeceeeene
Total shareholders’ funds.........ccoceeiiininiiinn
Non-controlling interest
Total equity
Non-current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings...........ccocovevrenninn.
Trade and other payables.........c.cocoovveeiiiincniininiicinee
Deferred tax liabilities........cocoooneniiniinil
Employee benefits

PrOVISIONS . ..uueeieiieciccee e et eeteeeeeeeee e e e e e eereeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeannnnnnennn

Current liabilities

Interest-bearing loans and borrowings..........cccccccovviivmnnnns
Trade and other payables..........cccoccevuvvviiniinniieiiiiics
Tax payable ..o
ProVvISIONS....coooviiiiiiiiiiiiice s

Total liabilities
Total equity and liabilities

Note

20

16
17
13
18
19

16
17

19

2015 2014
€m
1,861.9 1,143.8
1,699.9 1,642.0
75 8.0
38 82.9
4.0 4.0
3,577.1 2,880.7
492.4 581.2
688.1 799.2
41.3 80.4
567.2 404.1
1,789.0 1,864.9
5,366.1 4,745.6
128.4 15.6
898.8 948.8
1,027.2 964.4
(11.2) 3.7
1,016.0 960.7
2,045.9 1,562.2
441.0 267.2
4219 411.5
107.7 1043
274.4 74.7
3,290.9 2,419.8
348 59.7
903.5 1,175.0
78.6 74.7
423 55.7
1,059.2 1,365.1
4,350.1 3,784.9
5,366.1 4,745.6

The notes on pages 18 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 12 to 73 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 May 2016

and signed on its behalf by:

Leask
Director

14



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Total Non-
Share Other Retained shareholders controlling
capital  reserves  earnings funds interest Total equity
€m

Balance at 1 January 2014 - (22.9) 546.4 523.5 (7.8) 515.7
Profit/(loss) for the year .................... - - 406.4 406.4 (9.6) 396.8
Other comprehensive income:
Foreign exchange translation
differences......ccccooeeiiiiiinininennne - 24.7 - 24.7 0.7) 240
Remeasurements of post-
employment benefit plans.................. - (12.6) - (12.6) - (12.6)
Share of other comprehensive
income of associates and joint
VENTUTES ..onveeieneveneeenreenesneesceeeenenns - 43.0 - 43.0 - 43.0
Reclassification of share of other '
comprehensive income of joint
VENTUTES .veeeeeeeeereeeareeeraenraeneeeeseeennes - (16.6) - (16.6) - (16.6)
Transactions recorded directly in
equity:
Acquisition through business
combinations ........cceceeiviiiincceneencnnnen - - - - 144 14.4
Dividend.......cccooiviiiiiiiiiiicieene (4.0) (4.0) 4.0)
Balance at 31 December 2014 ' - 15.6 948.8 964.4 3.7 960.7
Loss for the year.........ccccccevvrennennnnn, - - (38.7) (38.7) (7.2) (45.9)
Foreign exchange translation -
differences.......cccocveevvievieeieeciieeennen, - 109.0 - 109.0 (0.3) 108.7
Remeasurements of post-
employment benefit plans.................. - 3.8 - 38 - 3.8
Transactions recorded directly in
equity:
Dividend........ccocvviiiiiiiiiinciicneees - - (11.3) (11.3) - (11.3)
Balance at 31 December 2015......... - 1284 898.8 1 1,027.2 (11.2) 1,016.0




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015 (Continued)

Analysis of Other Reserves:

Balance at 1 January 2014

Foreign exchange translation differences.............ccccocconviininnne
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations.......

Share of other comprehensive income of associates and joint

VEIEUTES. c1ieneiieeeieearemieeertueerteatreaeeeanesenascannsesusesssssennssinusssnnasens

Reclassification of share of other comprehensive income of

JOINE VENEUTE ...ccoeeveieencercneeene ettt

Balance at 31 December 2014,

Foreign exchange translation differences.............cccoccooiiiiins
Remeasurements of post employment benefit obligations.......

Balance at 31 December 2015,

The notes on pages 18 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

Remeasurement
of post
Translation employment Total other
reserve benefit plans reserves
(28.7) 58 (22.9)
24.7 - 24.9
- (12.6) (12.6)
45.0 2.0) 43.0
(16.6) - (16.6)
244 (8.8) 15.6
108.4 0.6 109.0
- 3.8 3.8
132.8 44 128.4




CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

Cash flows from operating activities

(Loss)/profit for the year .........ccccccovvviiniiinninnce e
Adjustments for: )

Depreciation and impairment .............cccocoviriinriiniinieeise e
AMOTLISALION . ....vieviiceeieie ettt ae e ean
Net finance costs ........ ettt r e
Share of profit of equity-accounted inVeSstees...........ccecvvvrriiiniininnns
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment...........cooeviiivinnnnns
Profit on disposal of investments..........c..ccccoveierreiiineiniccieccee
Tax charge/(Credit) .....o.eeeveeierreieeeccect e
Decrease in trade and other receivables............cccoeiiiiiininniininnnn.
Decrease in iNVENTOTIES ..cc.eoveveurreeieieeeieieeiece e nscssbeasas e rerees

 Net cash generated from operating activities

Cash flows from investing activities

Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment...............ccooeu.e.e.
Proceeds from sale of intangible assets
Proceeds from sales of inVeStMENtS.........ccooeeeiiiiiiinenniieniicees
Interest and other finance income received .........c.ccoccoeviniinninnnnne.
Dividends received.......coovvivniiniriiiiiincinice e
Disposal of businesses, net of cash disposed of ...
Loans received from related parties...........c.ccccccenee.

Acquisition of subsidiaries, net of cash acquired
Acquisition of property, plant and equipment .............cociiiiiinnnne
Acquisition of intangible assets........c..ccvvviiiiiiiiiiniinn

Net cash used in investing activities

Cash flows from financing activities

Proceeds from term [0ans ...
Repayment of term [oans...........cccooeeiniiiininiini
Proceeds from PIK toggle 1oan...........cooouiiiinciiniciniincceenns
Securitisation faCility......cccovevrierieeiireeie e
Repayment of other borrowings ..........ccovovmiiininininic e,
Proceeds from INEOS Upstream loan.........c.coceeevecenineninncinnnniennne
INtErest PAId......covieeeiiiiecrcicccetee e e
DEDU ISSUE COSES ..cevinmirirriienieeenerte sttt enn e
Dividend paid.......ccocoeveiiie e

Net cash generated in financing activities

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents ..........cccocovvvirniinnnnnn
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January..........c.cccecceveeeermneccennccrnennnne
Effect of exchange rate fluctuations on cash held

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December

Note

10
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2015 2014
€m
(45.9) 396.8
302.7 39.1
113.8 16.6
160.7 56.8
- (54.8)
0.1) : -
- (405.4)
106.4 (42.7)
265.5 236.1
115.3 47.6
(163.8) (128.8)
(76.4) 92)
(43.7) (5.8)
734.5 146.3
03 -
4.0 -
1.2 -
12.6 54
- 0.4
0.4 -
129.4 27.6
(763.5) (458.4)
(123.2) (75.9)
(56.0) 3.9)
(794.8) (504.8)
- 587.1
(11.3) -
- 200.0
(172.1) -
8.3) (17.9)
568.4 -
(147.0) (18.0)
(0.5) (35.4)
(11L.3) (4.0)
2179 711.8
157.6 3533
404.1 48.7
5.5 2.1
567.2 404.1

The notes on pages 18 to 73 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Overview

INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company™) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The registered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire
S0O43 7FG. The principal activities of the Group are the manufacture and sale of a range of chemicals
used in a variety of applications and the exploration, development and production of natural gas.

Basis of accounting

The Group financial statements consolidate those of the Company and its subsidiaries (together referred
to as the “Group”) and equity account the Group’s interest in associates and jointly controlled entities.

The Group financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis and approved by the
directors in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the
European Union (“Adopted IFRSs”) effective as of 31 December 2015 and with the Companies Act
2006 as applicable to companies using Adopted [FRSs.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Adopted IFRSs requires the use of certain
critical accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of
applying the Group’s accounting policies. Judgements made by the directors, in the application of these
accounting policies that have significant effect on the financial statements and estimates with a
significant risk of material adjustment in the next year are discussed in Note 28.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently to all
periods presented in these Group financial statements.

Measurement convention

The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis except that the derivative financial
instrument and financial instruments classified as fair value through profit and loss are stated at their fair
value and non-current assets and disposal groups held for sale are stated at the lower of previous
carrying amount and fair value less costs to sell.

Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in euro, which is the functional currency of the majority
of operations. The Group primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its
assets and liabilities denominated in euros. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2015 was $1:€0.9163
and £1:€1.3591 (2014: $1:€0.8220 and £1:€1.2791).

All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest €0.1 million.
Changes in accounting policies

The Group has applied the following accounting standards for the first time in 2015 with effect from 1
January 2015 (with material prior period comparative information restated, to the extent required and as
explained below):

e [FRIC 21 Levies (mandatory for year commencing on or after 17 June 2014).

The interpretation defines a levy as an outflow from an entity imposed by a government in
accordance with legislation. That levy is recognised as a liability when — and only when -
the triggering event specified in the legislation occurs.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDEb
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

e Annual Improvements to [FRSs — 2010-2012 Cycle (mandatory for year commencing on or
after 1 February 2015). )

= 1AS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment and 1AS 38 Intangible Assets — clarifies that
the requirements of the revaluation model under both the standards, recognising that
the restatement of accumulated depreciation (amortisation) is not always proportionate
to the change in the gross carrying amount of the asset.

= [AS 24 Related Party Disclosures — the definition of ‘related party’ has been extended
to include a management entity that provides key managerial person (KMP) services.

= IFRS 2 Share-based Payments — provides clarification on the definition of ‘vesting
condition’ by separately defining ‘performance condition’ and ‘service condition’.

= [FRS 3 Business Combinations — the amendments clarify the classification and
measurement of contingent consideration.

= IFRS 8 Operating Segments — the standard has been amended to explicitly require the
disclosure of judgments made by management in applying the aggregation criteria.

= IFRS 13 Fair Value Measurements — clarifies that IASB did not intend to prevent
entities from measuring short-term receivables and payables that have no stated
interest rate at their invoiced amounts without discounting, if the effect of not
discounting is immaterial.

Basis of consolidation
Subsidiaries

Subsidiaries are all entities (including structured entities) over which the Group has control. The Group
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries
are fully consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are
deconsolidated from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group
recognises any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either at
fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognised amounts of acquiree’s
identifiable net assets. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as incurred.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the acquisition date carrying value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree is re-measured to fair value at the acquisition date; any
gains or losses arising from such re-measurement are recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the Group is recognised at fair value at the acquisition
date. Subsequent changes to the fair value of the contingent consideration that is deemed to be an asset
or liability is recognised in accordance with [AS 39 either in profit or loss or as a change to other
comprehensive income. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not re-measured, and its
subsequent settlement is accounted for within equity.



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Inter-company transactions, balances and unrealised gains on transactions between Group companies are
eliminated. Unrealised losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in loss of control are accounted for as
equity transactions — that is, as transactions with the owners in their capacity as owners. The difference
between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of the carrying value of net
assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to non-controlling interests
are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control any retained interest in the entity is remeasured to its fair value
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognised in profit or loss. The fair
value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained interest
as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly disposed of
the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that amounts previously recognised in other
comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Special purpose entities (“SPE")

An SPE is consolidated if, based on an evaluation of the substance of its relationship with the Group and
the SPE’s risks and rewards, the Group concludes that it controls the SPE. The Group has established
two SPEs, Styrolution Receivable Finance Limited and Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolution, for a
debt securitisation programme. The Group does not have any direct or indirect shareholdings in these
SPEs.

Styrolution Receivables Finance Limited is a special-purpose entity formed by the Group to purchase
receivables from Group entities for purposes of a securitization of such financial assets and is, in
substance, controlied by the Group. .

Deutsche Bank Mexico F/1787 Styrolution is a Mexican Trust established by the Group to purchase
receivables from Styrolution Mexicana S.A. de C.V. for the purposes of securitization of such assets.
Styrolution Receivables Finance Limited is the first beneficiary of this Trust. It is therefore also, in
substance, controlled by the Group.

Associates

Associates are all entities over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investments in associates
are accounted for using the equity method of accounting.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognised in the income statement, and its share
of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognised in other comprehensive
income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. When the Group’s
share of losses in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including any other
unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred legal or
constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognises the
amount adjacent to ‘share of profit/(loss) of associates in the income statement.

Profits and losses resuiting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its
associate are recognised in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s
interests in the associates. Unrealised losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of
an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Joint arrangements

The group applies IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11 investments in joint arrangements
are classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and
obligations each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined
them to be joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Under the equity method of accounting, interests in joint ventures are initially recognised at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the group’s share of the post-acquisition profits or losses and
movements in other comprehensive income. When the group’s share of losses in a joint venture equals
or exceeds its interests in the joint ventures (which includes any long-term interests that, in substance,
form part of the group’s net investment in the joint ventures), the group does not recognise further
losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made payments on behalf of the joint ventures.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the group and its joint ventures are eliminated to the extent of
the group’s interest in the joint ventures. Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of the joint ventures
have been changed where necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Foreign exchange

Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the respective functional currencies of Group entities
at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities
denominated in foreign currencies at the balance sheet date are retranslated to the functional currency at
the foreign exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are
recognised in the profit and loss account except for differences arising on the retranslation of a financial
liability designated as a hedge of the net investment in a foreign operation that is effective, or qualifying
cash flow hedges, which are recognised directly in other comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets
and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction. Non-monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies that are stated at fair value are retranslated to the functional currency at foreign exchange
rates ruling at the dates the fair value was determined.

The assets and liabilities of foreign operations, including goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on
consolidation, are translated to the Group’s presentational currency, euros, at foreign exchange rates
ruling at the reporting date. The revenues and expenses of foreign operations are translated at exchange
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions. The Group applies an average rate for the year where
this rate approximates to the foreign exchange rates ruling at the dates of the transactions. Exchange
differences arising from this translation of foreign operations are taken directly to the translation reserve.
They are recycled into the consolidated income statement upon disposal.

Exchange differences arising from a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation,
the settlement of which is neither planned nor likely in the foreseeable future, are considered to form
part of a net investment in a foreign operation and are recognised directly in equity in the translation
reserve. Foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation of a borrowing designated as a hedge
of a net investment in a foreign operation are recognised directly in equity, in the translation reserve, to
the extent that the hedge is effective. When the hedged part of a net investment is disposed of, the
associated cumulative-amount in equity is transferred to profit or loss as an adjustment to the profit or
loss on disposal.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Group

Financial instruments issued by the Group are treated as equity only to the extent that they meet the
following two conditions:

a. they include no contractual obligations upon the Group to deliver cash or other financial assets or to
exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Group; and

b. where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own
equity instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed
amount of cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability.
Where the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts
presented in these financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude
amounts in relation to those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other payables

Trade and other payables are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method.

Investments in debt and equity securities
Investments in loans and receivables are stated at amortised cost less impairment.

Other investments in debt and equity securities held by the Group are classified as being available-for-
sale and are stated at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss being recognised in other comprehensive
income (in a fair value reserve), except for impairment losses and, in the case of monetary items such as
debt securities, foreign exchange gains and losses. When these investments are derecognised, the
cumulative gain or loss previously recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss. Where
these investments are interest-bearing, interest calculated using the effective interest method is
recognised in profit or loss. Where no reliable measurement of fair value is available, available-for-sale
investments are stated at historic acquisition cost.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable
on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of
cash and cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs.
Subsequent to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the
effective interest method. :
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derivative financial instruments and hedging
Derivative financial instruments

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair value. The gain or loss on subsequent re-
measurement to fair value is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance
income or expense. Where derivatives qualify for hedge accounting, recognition of any resultant gain or
loss depends on the nature of the item being hedged.

Cash flow hedges

Where a derivative financial instrument is designated as a hedge of the variability in cash flows of a
recognised asset or liability, or a highly probable forecast transaction, the effective part of any gain or

loss on the derivative financial instrument is recognised directly in the hedging reserve. Any ineffective
portion of the hedge is recognised immediately in the consolidated income statement as finance income
or expense.

When the forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a non-financial asset or non-
financial liability, the associated cumulative gain or loss is removed from the hedging reserve and is
included in the initial carrying amount of the non-financial asset or liability.

If a hedge of a forecast transaction subsequently results in the recognition of a financial asset or a
financial liability, the associated gains and losses that were recognised directly in equity are reclassified
into profit or loss in the same period or periods during which the asset acquired or liability assumed
affects profit or loss, e.g. when interest income or expense is recognised.

For cash flow hedges, other than those covered by the preceding two policy statements, the associated
cumulative gain or loss is removed from equity and included in the consolidated income statement as an
adjustment to revenue and cost of sales in the same period or periods during which the hedged forecast
transaction affects revenue and cost of sales in the consolidated income statement.

When a hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the Group revokes designation
of the hedge relationship but the hedged forecast transaction is still expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss at that point remains in equity and is recognised in accordance with the above policy when
the transaction occurs. If the hedged transaction is no longer expected to take place, the cumulative
unrealised gain or loss recognised in equity is recognised in the consolidated income statement
immediately.

Hedge of net investment in foreign operation

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign exchange differences arising on the retranslation of a
foreign currency loan where the loan is designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation
in accordance with IAS 21 and IAS 39.

Exchange differences arising on retranslation of foreign currency loans designated as a net investment
hedge are taken directly to equity via the consolidated statement of comprehensive income. Gains and
losses accumulated in the translation reserve will be recycled to the statement of comprehensive income
when the foreign operation is sold.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment is stated at historic cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses.

Cost includes expenditure that is directly attributable to the acquisition of the asset. Cost may include
the cost of materials, labour and other costs directly attributable to bringing the assets to a working
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31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

condition for their intended use. Cost may also include the cost of dismantling and removing items and
restoring the site on which they are located.

Capital work in progress is held as assets under construction until fully commissioned and transferred
into active use.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted
for as separate items of property, plant and equipment.

For oil and gas assets the Group uses the successful efforts method of accounting whereby acquisition
and development costs are capitalised. Exploration costs are charged to the income statement as
incurred. Capitalised development costs for property for which the existence of commercial oil and gas
reserves has not been proved are subject to periodic review for impairment.

Leases in which the Group assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the leased
asset are classified as finance leases. Where land and buildings are held under leases the accounting
treatment of the land is considered separately from that of the buildings. Leased assets acquired by way
of finance lease are stated at an amount equal to the lower of their fair value and the present value of the
minimum lease payments at inception of the lease, less accumulated depreciation and less accumulated
impairment losses. The assets are depreciated over the shorter of their useful life or asset lease term.
Accounting for lease payments is described ahead.

Depreciation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of each part of an item of property, plant and equipment. Depreciation commences from the
date an asset is brought into service. Land and assets in the course of construction are not depreciated.
The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e Buildings: 10 — 40 years
e Plant and machinery, fixtures and fittings and motor vehicles: 3 —40 years

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date.

Depletion and depreciation of the capitalised costs for producing oil and gas properties is provided by
the unit-of-production method based upon estimated recoverable oil and gas reserves. The unit-of-
production method used by the Group takes the current year's production as a proportion of the sum of
the estimated recoverable reserves at the end of the prior year and current year production, and applies
this proportion to the undepleted cost to arrive at a charge for the year.

The carrying values of property, plant and equipment are reviewed for impairment when events or
changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Where an indicator of
impairment exists, the Group makes an estimate of the recoverable amount, which is the higher of the
asset's fair value less cost to sell and value in use. Where the carrying amount of an asset exceeds its
recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount.

For oil and gas assets the Group performs a ceiling test annually to determine whether the net book
value of costs capitalised at the year end is covered by the anticipated future net revenue from oil and
gas reserves attributable to the Group's interest in the field. Future net revenues are the estimated
reserves from production of commercial oil and gas reserves less operating costs, royalties and future
development costs. Any deficiency arising is charged as additional depreciation in the year.

Assets are derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise from
the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising on de-recognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying value of the asset) is included in the
consolidated income statement in the year in which the item is derecognised.

24
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations, goodwill and intangible assets
Business combinations

All business combinations are accounted for by applying the acquisition method except acquisitions
under common control which are outside the scope of IFRS 3. Business combinations are accounted for
using the acquisition method as at the acquisition date, which is the date on which control is transferred
to the Group.

Acquisitions under common control

Acquisitions under common control are accounted for at book value. The difference in the book value of
the assets acquired and consideration paid is recognised in the retained earnings.

Goodwill

Goodwill represents amounts arising on acquisition of subsidiaries. All transaction costs are expensed as
incurred.

Goodwill is stated at cost less any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is allocated to groups of
cash-generating units and is not amortised but is tested annually for impairment. At INEOS, cash
generating units are predominately business units. In respect of equity accounted investees, the carrying
amount of goodwill is included in the carrying amount of the investment in the investee.

Intangible assets

Intangible assets that are acquired by the Group are stated at cost less accumulated amortisation and
accumulated impairment losses. These intangible assets principally comprise the following assets

o intellectual property rights;

e  customer relationships;

e non-compete agreements;

e license fees and

e evaluation and exploration expenditures.

Intangible assets acquired separately from a business are carried initially at cost. The initial cost is the
aggregate amount paid and the fair value of other consideration given to acquire the assets. An
intangible asset acquired as part of a business combination is recognised separately from goodwill if the
asset is separable or arises from contractual or other legal rights and its fair value can be measured

Intangible assets within the oil and gas business represents the cost of acquiring and further costs
incurred on exploration licences on sites where no decision has yet been made as to the ultimate
commercial viability of the properties.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Amortisation

Amortisation is charged to the consolidated income statement on a straight-line basis over the estimated
useful lives of intangible assets unless such lives are indefinite. Intangible assets with an indefinite
useful life and goodwill are systematically tested for impairment at each reporting date. Other intangible
assets are amortised from the date they are available for use. The estimated useful lives are as follows:

e License fees up to 15 years
e Customer lists up to 12 years
e Intellectual property rights 10 — 15 years
¢ Non-compete agreements life of the agreement

Amortisation of the capitalised costs for producing oil and gas properties is provided by the unit-of-
production method based upon estimated recoverable oil and gas reserves. The unit-of-production
method used by the Group takes the current year's production as a proportion of the sum of the estimated
recoverable reserves at the end of the prior year and current year production, and applies this proportion
to the undepleted cost to arrive at a charge for the year.

These intangible assets are tested for impairment at the end of the reporting period if events or changes
in circumstances indicate that the carrying value may not be recoverable. Useful lives are examined on
an annual basis and adjustments, where applicable, are made on a prospective basis.

The amortisation is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated income statement.
Research and development

Expenditure on research activities is recognised in the consolidated income statement as an expense as
incurred.

Expenditure on development activities is capitalised if the product or process is technically and
commercially feasible and the Group intends to and has the technical ability and sufficient resources to
complete development, future economic benefits are probable and if the Group can measure reliably the
expenditure attributable to the intangible asset during its development. Development activities involve a
plan or design for the production of new or substantially improved products or processes. The
expenditure capitalised includes the cost of materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of
overheads. Where regulatory and other uncertainties are such that the criteria are not met, the
expenditure is recognised in the income statement. Other development expenditure is recognised in the
income statement as an expense as incurred. Capitalised development expenditure is stated at cost less
accumulated amortisation and less accumulated impairment losses.

Exploration and evaluation activities
Exploration and evaluation expenditures

Shale Gas Exploration costs are accounted for under the successful efforts method by geographical area
with an assessment of commercial viability of those areas performed on a periodic basis.

Costs directly associated with an exploration site are initially capitalised as an intangible asset until the
evaluation of the site is complete and the results have been evaluated. These costs include topographical,
geological, geophysical and geochemical studies, civil costs, exploratory drilling and testing, sampling,
trenching, contractor charges, materials and fuels used, manpower and associated overheads. In the case
that the expenditure will not be immediately allocated to a site, it will be capitalised against the wider
licensed region and then subsequently allocated to the site using an appropriate method of
apportionment. Other costs are initially capitalised as property, plant and equipment and these include
drillings rigs, seismic equipment and other plant and machinery used in the exploration activity.
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Pre-license costs incurred prior to acquiring the legal rights (or a share of the legal rights) to explore an
area are expensed to the income statement as they are incurred and are not subsequently capitalised.

Impairment of exploration and evaluation expenditure

Exploration and Evaluation expenditure is tested for impairment whenever circumstances suggest that it
may be impaired, which includes licences to be relinquished, no substantive plans for further exploration
of an area or where there is indication that exploration costs are unlikely to be fully recovered through
future development or sale.

Impairment excluding inventories and deferred tax assets

The carrying amounts of the Group’s assets are assessed at the end of the reporting period to determine
whether there is any indication of impairment. A financial asset is considered to be impaired if
objective evidence indicates that one or more events have had a negative effect on the estimated future
cash flows of that asset. If any such indication exists, the asset’s recoverable amount is estimated.

For goodwill and other intangible assets that have an indefinite useful life and intangible assets that are
not yet available for use, the recoverable amount is estimated at the end of the reporting period.

An impairment loss is recognised whenever the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating unit
exceeds its recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognised in the consolidated income statement.

Impairment losses recognised in respect of cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the
carrying amount of any goodwill allocated to cash-generating units and then to reduce the carrying
amount of the other assets in the unit on a pro rata basis. A cash generating unit is the smallest
identifiable group of assets that generates cash inflows that are largely independent of the cash inflows
from other assets or groups of assets.

When a decline in the fair value of an available-for-sale financial asset has been recognised directly in
equity and there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired, the cumulative loss that had been
recognised directly in equity is recognised in profit or loss even though the financial asset has not been
derecognised. The amount of the cumulative loss that is recognised in profit or loss is the difference
between the acquisition cost and current fair value, less any impairment loss on that financial asset
previously recognised in profit or loss.

Calculation of recoverable amount

The recoverable amount of the Group’s receivables is calculated as the present value of estimated future
cash flows, discounted at the original effective interest rate (i.e. the effective interest rate computed at
initial recognition of these financial assets). Receivables are not discounted where their duration is less
than one year or where the effect of discounting is not material.

The recoverable amount of other assets is the greater of their fair values less costs to sell and value in
use. In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using
a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset.

For an asset that does not generate largely independent cash inflows, the recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Reversals of impairment

An impairment loss in respect of a held-to-maturity security or receivable carried at amortised cost is
reversed if the subsequent increase in recoverable amount can be related objectively to an event
occurring after the impairment loss was recognised.

An impairment loss in respect of an investment in an equity instrument classified as available for sale is
not reversed through profit or loss. If the fair value of a debt instrument classified as available-for-sale
increases and the increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the impairment loss was
recognised in profit or loss, the impairment loss is reversed through-profit or loss.

An impairment loss in respect of goodwill is not reversed.

In respect of other assets, an impairment loss is reversed when there is an indication that the impairment
loss may no longer exist and there has been a change in the estimates used to determine the recoverable
amount.

An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying amount does not exceed the
carrying amount that would have been determined, net of depreciation or amortisation, if no impairment
loss had been recognised.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of average cost and net realisable value. Cost includes expenditure
incurred in acquiring the inventories, production or conversion costs and other costs in bringing the
inventory to its present location and condition. In the case of manufactured inventories and work in
progress, cost includes an appropriate share of overheads based on normal operating capacity. Provision
is made for obsolete, slow-moving or defective items where appropriate.

Items owned by the Group that are held on consignment at another entity’s premises are included as part
of the Group’s inventory.

Commodities

Contracts that are entered into and continue to be held for the purpose of receipt or delivery of non-
financial items in accordance with the Group’s expected purchase, sale or usage requirements (own-use
contracts) are not accounted for as derivative financial instruments, but rather as executory contracts.

Employee benefits

The Group operates a number of defined contribution plans and funded and unfunded defined benefit
pension schemes. The Group also provides unfunded early retirement benefits, long service awards and
an incentive plan for certain employees.

The Group provides health care insurance to eligible retired employees and their dependants, primarily
in the United States.

Defined contribution plans

A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed

contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay further
amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are recognised as an
expense in the consolidated income statement as incurred.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
Defined benefit plans

A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan that is not a defined contribution plan. The
Group’s net obligation in respect of defined benefit pension plans and other post-employment benefits is
calculated separately for each plan by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees have
earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine
its present value, and the fair value of any plan assets (at bid price) are deducted. The liability discount
rate is the yield at the reporting date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency of, and that
have maturity dates approximating to the terms of, the Group’s obligations. The calculation is performed
by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method.

When the benefits of a plan are amended or curtailed, the portion of the increased or decreased benefit
relating to past service by employees is recognised as an expense immediately in the consolidated
income statement.

All actuarial gains and losses as at 1 January 2014, the date of transition to IFRSs, were recognised. In
respect of actuarial gains and losses that arise subsequent to 1 January 2014, the Group recognises them
in the year they occur directly in equity through the statement of comprehensive income.

Where the calculation results in a benefit to the Group, the asset recognised is limited to the present
value of any future refunds from the plan or reductions in future contributions to the plan.

The pension scheme surplus (to the extent that it is recoverable) or deficit is recognised in full.
The movement in the scheme surplus/deficit is split between:

cost of sales and administrative expenses ;

e net finance costs; and
in net expense recognised directly in equity, the re-measurements of post-employment benefit
obligations.

Short-term benefits

Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are expensed as the
related service is provided. A liability is recognised for the amount expected to be paid under short-term
cash bonus or profit-sharing plans if the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation to pay this

amount as a result of past service provided by the employee and the obligation can be estimated reliably.

Provisions

A provision is recognised in the balance sheet where the Group has a present legal or constructive
obligation as a result of a past event and it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation. Provisions are
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects risks specific to
the liability.

Restructuring provisions

Restructuring provisions are recognised when the Group has a detailed, formal plan for the restructuring
and has raised a valid expectation in those affected by either starting to implement the plan or
announcing its main features to those affected and therefore has a legal or constructive obligation to
carry out the restructuring.

The Group can be exposed to environmental liabilities relating to its past operations, principally in
respect of soil and groundwater remediation costs. Provision for these costs are made when expenditure
on remedial work is probable and the cost can be estimated within a reasonable range of possible
outcomes. '
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31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Decommissioning and restoration provisions

The Group makes full provision for the future costs of the decommissioning and restoration of
exploration and evaluation facilities on a discounted basis. The decommissioning and restoration
provision relates to the total cost of cementing and plugging the existing wells and any costs associated
with returning the sites to their original use.

In respect of the oil and gas business the Group makes full provision for the net present value of the cost
of decommissioning and restoration with the resultant liability being recorded on the balance sheet. An
offsetting tangible fixed asset is also recognised. The asset is depleted under the same basis as other
fixed assets whereby the asset is then amortised through the income statement on the unit-of-production
method. The unwinding of the discount in the net present value of the total expected cost is treated as an
interest expense. Changes in estimates are reflected prospectively over the remaining reserves of the
field.

Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares
are shown in equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

Revenue

Revenue represents the invoiced value of products sold or services provided to third parties net of sales
discounts, value added taxes and duties. Revenue is recognised when the significant risks and rewards of
ownership have passed to the buyer and it can be reliably measured.

The pricing for products sold is determined by market prices (market contracts and arrangements) or is
linked by a formula to published raw material prices plus an agreed additional amount (formula
contracts). Revenue arising from the sale of goods is recognised when the goods are either dispatched or
delivered depending on the relevant delivery terms and the point at which risks and rewards have been
transferred to the buyer when the prices are determinable and when collectability is considered probable.
In the oil and gas business revenue is recognised at the time of lifting and represents oil and gas stocks
sold to third parties.

Services provided to third parties include administrative and operational services provided to other
chemical companies with units on our sites and services under tolling arrangements. Under tolling
arrangements, customers pay for or provide raw materials to be converted into a certain specified
product, for which the Group charges a toll fee. The Group only recognises the toll fee as turnover
earned under such arrangements upon shipment of the converted product to the customer. For all other
services, revenue is recognised upon completion of the service provided. Other income arises from
tariffs for third party use of owned pipelines. Tariffs are recognised at the end of the month for pipeline
movements during the month and are based on quantity transported through the pipeline.

Government grants

Government grants are shown in the consolidated balance sheet as deferred income. This income is
amortised on a straight line basis over the same period as the tangible fixed asset to which it relates or
the life of the related project.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POL[CIES'(continued)

Expenses
Operating lease payments

Payments made under operating leases are recognised in the consolidated income statement on a
straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease incentives received are recognised in the
consolidated income statement as an integral part of the total lease expense.

Finance lease payments

Minimum lease payments are apportioned between the finance charge and the reduction of the
outstanding liability. The finance charge is allocated to each period during the lease term so as to
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of the liability.

Finance income and expenses

Interest income and interest payable is recognised in the consolidated income statement as it accrues,
using the effective interest method. Dividend income is recognised in the consolidated income statement
on the date the entity’s right to receive payments is established. -

Fmance costs comprise interest payable, finance charges on finance leases, unwinding of the discount on
provisions, net fair value losses derivatives and net foreign exchange losses that are recognised in the
consolidated income statement (see foreign exchange accounting policy). Finance income comprise
interest receivable on funds invested and from related party loans, interest on the defined benefit plan
assets, net fair value gain on derivatives and net foreign exchange gains.

Taxation

Tax on the profit or loss for the year comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognised in the
consolidated income statement except to the extent that it relates to items recognised directly in equity,
in which case it is recognised in equity.

Current tax is the expected tax payable on the taxable income for the year, using tax rates enacted or
substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period, and any adjustment to tax payable in respect of
previous years.

Deferred tax is provided on temporary differences between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
for financial reporting purposes and the amounts used for taxation purposes. The following temporary
differences are not provided for: the initial recognition of goodwill; the initial recognition of assets or
liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable profit other than in a business combination; and
differences relating to investments in subsidiaries to the extent that they will probably not reverse in-the
foreseeable future. The amount of deferred tax provided is based on the expected manner of realisation
or settlement of the carrying amount of assets and liabilities, using tax rates enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. A deferred tax asset is recognised only to the extent that it is
probable that future taxable profits will be available against which the temporary difference can be
utilised.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued) .

Emission trading scheme

The Group participates in the EU Emissions Trading Scheme. The Scheme encourages companies to
reduce carbon emissions by offering financial incentives if they achieve their annual reduction targets.
If a company reduces emissions beyond their target then the surplus may be traded in the form of
emissions permits. :

The incentive money due from the EU Emissions Trading Scheme is recognised in the consolidated
income statement once the reduction targets have been met. The emissions permits allocated under the
Scheme are at nil cost. The Group recognises the revenue from such permits upon their sale to third
parties.

The Group recognises a provision for emissions produced. The provision is measured at the carrying
amount of the emission rights held (nil if granted, otherwise at cost) or, in the case of a shortfall, at the
current fair value of the emission rights needed.

Exceptional items

The presentation of the Group’s results separately identifies the effect of profits and losses on the
disposal of businesses, the impairment and the reversal of impairment of non-current assets, the cost of
restructuring acquired businesses and the impact of one off events such as legal settlements as
exceptional items. Results excluding disposals, impairments, restructuring costs and one off items are
used by management and are presented in order to provide readers with a clear and consistent
presentation of the underlying operating performance of the Group’s ongoing business.

Accounting standards not applied

The following IFRSs relevant to the Group have been endorsed by the EU were available for early
application but have not been applied by the Group in these financial statements. The impact of their
adoption is currently being assessed and is not expected to have a material effect on the financial
statements unless otherwise indicated:

e Amendments to [AS 27 — Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements (mandatory for year
commencing on or after 1 January 2016).

The amendments reinstate the equity method as an accounting option for investments in
subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates in an entity's separate financial statements.

®  Amendments to IAS 1 — Disclosure Initiative (mandatory for year commencing on or after 1 January
2016).

This amendment has given certain clarifications regarding the use of concept of materiality,
structure of notes and disclosures of accounting policies and information to be presented in the
statement of financial position and in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income.

o Amendments to IAS 16 and IAS 38 - Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and
Amortisation (mandatory for year commencing on or after | January 2016).

The amendments provide additional guidance on how the depreciation or amortisation of
property, plant and equipment and intangible assets should be calculated.

o Amendments to I[FRS 11 — Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations (mandatory
for year commencing on or after 1 January 2016).

This amendment clarifies that when acquiring interests in joint operations in which the activity
constitutes a business pursuant to IFRS 3 all of the principles on business combinations
accounting in [FRS 3. This means that most identifiable assets and liabilities must be measured
at fair value, deferred taxes and goodwill must be recognised and impairment tests must be
performed. In addition the disclosure requirements in IFRS 3 also apply in these cases.
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1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

®  Amendments to [AS 16 and IAS 41: Bearer Plants (mandatory for year commencing on or after 1
January 2016).

The amendments bring bearer plants, which are used solely to grow produce, into the scope of
IAS 16 so that they are accounted for in the same way as property, plant and equipment.

o Annual Improvements to IFRSs — 2012-2014 Cycle (mandatory for year commencing on or after 1
January 2016).

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2012-2014 Cycle sets out five amendments to four standards,
excluding those standards that are consequentially amended, and the related Basis for
Conclusions.

The standards affected and the subjects of the amendments are:

® IFRS 5 Non-current Assets Held for Sale and Discontinued Operations — changes in
methods of disposal;

e IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures — servicing contracts and applicability of the
amendments to IFRS 7 to condensed interim financial statements;

e 1AS 19 Employee Benefits — regional market issue regarding discount rate;

o 1AS 34 Interim Financial Reporting — disclosure of information ‘elsewhere in the interim
financial report’. .

o  Amendments to IAS 19: Defined Benefit Plans: Employee Contributions (mandatory for year
commencing on or after 1 February 2015)

The amendment clarifies the requirements that relate to how contributions from employees or
third parties that are linked to service should be attributed to periods of service. In addition, it
permits a practical expedient if the amount of the contributions is independent of the number of
years of service, in that contributions, can, but are not required, to be recognised as a reduction
in the service cost in the period in which the related service is rendered.

o Annual Improvements to [FRSs 2010-2012 Cycle (mandatory for year commencing on or after 1
February 2015)

Annual Improvements to IFRSs 2010-2012 Cycle sets out a collection of amendments to
IFRSs.

The standards affected and the subjects of the amendments are:

e [FRS 2: Definition of 'vesting condition’;

e IFRS 3: Accounting for contingent consideration in a business combination;

e [FRS 8: Aggregation of operating segments;

e [FRS 8: Reconciliation of the total of the reportable segments' assets to the entity's assets;
e IFRS 13: Short-term receivables and payables;

e [AS 7: Interest paid that is capitalised;

e [AS 16/IAS 38: Revaluation method — proportionate restatement of accumulated
depreciation;

e [AS 24: Key management personnel.

33



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015
2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES
Acquisitions in the current year

On 27 October 2015, the Group acquired a 25% interest in the Clipper South Gas Field in the UK
North Sea from Fairfield Energy Holdings Limited.

On 30 November 2015, the Group acquired all of the UK North Sea gas fields owned by DEA
Deutsche Erodel AG, the German based subsidiary of the LetterOne Group. This acquisition included a
50% interest in the Breagh Gas Field and a 50% interest in the Clipper South Gas Field and brings with
it development interest in 3 other licenses.

From the acquisition dates to 31 December 2015 the subsidiaries contributed a net loss of €21.6 million
to the consolidated net loss for the year.

Effect of acquisitions

The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

. Acquiree’s provisional net assets at acquisition: Fairfield Provisional
Energy DEA values
Holdings Deutsche recognised
Ltd Erodel AG on
acquisition acquisition acquisition
€m €m €m
Property, plant and equipment ................ ereereerer e eae e eeebaeeesaeeaareeen 41.2 828.5 869.7
- INtangible @SSELS ....c..civeiiei e - 31.2 31.2
INVENEOTIES ...vveviiteireeie ettt e sbbeenr et enes - 2.7 2.7
Trade and other receivables ..., 24 39.1 41.5
Deferred tax aSSEtS ......ccoveieeveriernriecieitiic et 27.2 0.2 274
Cash and cash equivalents 2.0 23.2 25.2
PrOVISIONS. ... .ceicieetieiiieeetee ettt et bt ea e se st ennaneas (16.7) (255.5) (272.2)
Trade and other payables .........ccooeeiierinineicniiie e 2.49) (42.8) (45.2)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities .53.7 626.6 680.3
Consideration paid: .
CaSH ot s e 53.5 534.1 587.6
Deferred consideration............ccocecirverieeerienreeennennieeseneeeecnennnienns - 94.4 94.4
Total consideration paid 53.5 628.5 682.0
Differences between consideration and provisional net ’
assets acquired (0.2) 1.9 1.7

The difference between consideration and provisional net assets acquired has been recogmsed as
goodwill within intangible assets in Note 10.

Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of €7.0 million mainly related to legal and professional
fees. These costs have been included in exceptional administrative expenses in the Group’s
consolidated income statement.

Prior year acquisitions

During 2015 €200.0 million was paid in deferred consideration in relation to the 2014 acquisition of
Styrolution Holdings GmbH and a further €1.1 million for other acquisitions.
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2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Acquisitions in 2014
Styrolution Holding GmbH

On 17 November 2014, the Group acquired the remaining 50% of the shares in Styrolution Holding
GmbH for €1,108.7 million from BASF SE. Styrolution was previously a 50/50 joint venture between
the Group and BASF. The company is a global styrenics supplier with a focus on styrene monomer,
polystyrene, ABS (acrylonitrile butadiene styrene) and styrenic specialties. From the acquisition date
to 31 December 2014 the subsidiary contributed a net loss of €63.8 million to the consolidated net
profit for the year.

' Effect of acquisition
The acquisition had the following effect on the Group’s assets and liabilities:

Acquiree’s net assets at acquisition: Recognised values on

acquisition
€m

Property, plant and @qUIPMENL ............ccccenrererireerecnriiert it 865.8
INtANZIDIE ASSELS .. .ccueeureeiiitieieeieeirrrerteser ettt et eeterbecor et e rhaeerssnessaeenaean 931.8
INVESLIMENES ....oiiiiiieieiiiiee ettt et te et e e ettt st e e e et e e s smmteeeabrae s s eanssesaeannnnne 0.3
INVENEOTIES o.ouveeueireetieieeeieieeaectestereaesseessesarenesaransesanesssessreaseasseenseaneersesssaesersacenenss 536.0
Trade and Other receivabIEs ........cooveviirvirieinierient et e eesaeenns 803.4
Cash and cash equivalents 519.2
Deferred tax labilities.......cvoieierririirieienere ettt et (449.4)
PLOVISIONS....eiieiiiierieicetctceie sttt e s ettt s e e sttt sse s e seeseees s nemnnenss (117.1)
Trade and other payables ..........ccooeeieriinininieniiiceit e (1,521.0)
MINOLILY INEEIESL.c..eeriiiirieiieeerteiccrt ettt s saassaaaens (14.4)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 1,554.6
Consideration paid:

CASH .t sttt se e e et es e e e ene e sre e neene e e 908.7
Deferred COnSIAEration.........c..ccceeeiiieiiinininertc et 200.0
Fair value of previously held equity interest............ 1,108.8
Total consideration paid 2,217.5
Differences between consideration and net assets acquired ........ccccceenrceercvnesees 662.9

The difference between consideration and net assets acquired has been recognised as goodwill within
intangible assets in Note 10.

Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of €11.7 million mainly related to legal and professional
fees. These costs have been included in exceptional administrative expenses in the Group’s
consolidated income statement.

Acquired receivables

The fair value of acquired receivables was €803.4 million. The gross contractual amounts receivable are
€803.4 million and, at the acquisition date, €6.9 million of contractual cash flows were not expected to
be received.
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2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)

Prior to the acquisition date, the Group’s interest in the Styrolution joint venture was accounted for in
accordance with the equity method of accounting. As a result of the acquisition the previously held
interest of 50% has been disposed of for a fair value of €1,108.8 million, being the equivalent of the
value paid to BASF for their 50% holding. Therefore the gain on the previously held equity interest in
Styrolution has been calculated as follows:

Gain on
disposal of
investment

) €m
Fair value of previously held equity Interest .........coccovveiiiiiiiiiiie s 1,108.8
Reclassification of share of other comprehensive income of Styrolution.............c..cc...... 16.6
Carrying value of equity accounted iNVESIMENLt .........cceivvieiiniiniiiiiin i (720.0)
Gain on previously held interest in Styrolution recognised in income statement....... 405.4

Grangemouth CHP Limited

On 1 October 2014, the Group acquired all of the ordinary shares in Grangemouth CHP Limited for
€69.6 million, satisfied in cash. The primary business of Grangemouth CHP Limited is to sell the steam
and electricity from its plant in Grangemouth to Petroineos Manufacturing Scotland Limited (a Joint
venture between INEOS AG and Petrochina). From the acquisition date to 31 December 2014 the
subsidiary contributed a net profit of €3.3 million to the consolidated net profit for the year.

Effect of acquisition
Acquiree’s net assets at acquisition date: Recognised
values on
acquisition
. €m
Property, plant and QUIPIMENT ........cooovvviirieieiiiieeii et see st e eesreceneeseesenesananns 60.1
INtANGIDIE ASSES ...cuviiiiiiiic ettt s s b s 48.0
INVENTOTIES ..ottt ettt et ettt et sb s e st saeeae et e st sae b saee e beenscanenssreeeens 2.6
Trade and Other FECEIVADIES .......cc.eeieeeiireiieieeit et erre e e e e e sre et eeaeeeese e s e e enereennees 9.2
Cash and cash eqUIVAIENLS.........ccoocieiiierrreret ettt e e n e e smaes 0.7
Trade and other payables (42.1)
Deferred tax Habilities........covveveriieieiei ettt cb e (8.9)
Net identifiable assets and liabilities 69.6
Consideration paid:
SN ettt et et b ettt ent b e r e s e anesenneeae 69.6

Differences between consideration and net assets acquired -
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31 DECEMBER 2015
2. ACQUISITIONS OF SUBSIDIARIES (continued)
Acquisition related costs

The Group incurred acquisition related costs of €1.9 million related to legal fees and stamp duty. These
costs have been included in exceptional administrative expenses in the Group’s consolidated income
statement.

Acquired receivables

The fair value of acquired receivables was €9.2 million. The gross contractual amounts receivable are
€9.2 million and, at the acquisition date, €nil of contractual cash flows were not expected to be received.

3. EXCEPTIONAL ITEMS

Exceptional expenses

2015 . 2014
€m

Exceptional cost of sales:
Property, plant and equipment impairment charge.........cc.occoeoviierienns 128.8 ' -
Exceptional administrative expenses:
Impairment of loans from related parties 138.9 -
Restructuring of Styrenics operations ...........ccccceeeeveenrecnnnnns 2.0 4.5
Restructuring of Styrolution operations .............ccecceveeveeruennne . 12.7 6.4
ONErous CONIACE .......ccceeiieiieiiriiniiie et 7.3 -
Acquisition related COStS ...oevrvriririernrenieeiiereeere e 7.0 13.6
Other exceptional IeMS.....cc.cooveeirieriiirieiiiee e 5.2 1.3

173.1 25.8

Exceptional cost of sales

The Group has recognised an exceptional impairment charge of €128.8 million for the year ended 31
December 2015 in relation to property, plant and equipment of the INEOS Bio business located at the
Vero Beach, USA site. INEOS Bio uses advanced bioenergy technology to convert waste and non food
crop biomass in to biofuel and renewable power. The sustained collapse in crude oil prices since 2014
has made biofuel uncompetitive as an alternative fuel source in North American markets. The
operations of the Vero Beach plant have improved during 2015, but have not reached a stage of reliable,
long term production. The Group now considers this is unlikely to be successful without further
significant capital investment. The Group has therefore chosen to either sell or exit the Bio business by
the end 0of 2016. As a result of this, the Group has fully impaired the property, plant and equipment of
the Vero Beach plant.

Exceptional administrative expenses

During the year ended 31 December 2015 there was an allowance made of €138.9 million against
outstanding loans due from INEOS Bio SA, a related party, following adverse changes in market
conditions and production issues at the Vero Beach plant as mentioned above.

In 2015 further costs were provided for in relation to the continued restructuring of the Styrolution
operations of €12.7 million (2014: €6.4 million), together with €7.3 million in relation to expected
losses on an onerous contract.

Acquisition related costs of €7.0 million related to the acquisition of Fairfield Energy Holdings Limited
and DEA Deutsche Erodel AG. In 2014, acquisition costs included €11.7 million related to the
acquisition of Styrolution Holdings GmbH and €1.9 million related to the acquisition of Grangemouth
CHP Limited.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

31 DECEMBER 2015

4. OPERATING PROFIT/(LOSS)

Included in operating profit/(loss) are the following:

Research expenses as iNCUITEd........cocooceurmercecneeineetemeencsreieeeesceseaemeeeeneenesene
Amortisation of other intangible assets

Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment..........ccccceoeenuininincs
Amortisation of EOVErnment grants..........ooecveeeriiiiiiceciinneenniseeeee e
Depreciation and impairment of property, plant and equipment:

OWNEA @SSELS..cveereireirieeeereerrieereereseeereeesreeeeereeesseeeseseeesssrecnseesssasssssasenanes

Operating lease rental charges:
Plant, machinery and eqUipment .........c...cccceiieniiccmninecnecceenecee s

Auditors’ remuneration

Audit of these financial Statements ..........c..occevueviieniiniinniiieciencce s
Amounts receivable by auditors and their associates in respect of:
Audit of financial statements of subsidiaries pursuant to legislation..........

5. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

2015 2014
€m
18.3 7.2
113.8 16.6
0.1 -
0.1 (2.8)
302.7 39.1
1.6 0.2
79.4 33
2015 2014
€m
0.1 0.1
1.9 0.6
2.0 0.7

The average monthly number of persons employed by the Group (including directors) during the year,

analysed by category, was as follows:

OPETALIONS ..ottt ettt e st enesabesasesr s e sas st s saesbeanes
AdMINISIIAtION ...ooiuiiiiiiieieietetee et
Research and development.............ccooevveiiiiniiniiniininiicicie e

The aggregate payroll costs of these persons were as follows:

Wages and Salari€s ..o
S0CIAl SECUTILY COSES ..cuuverirerieriereerieerreeieeeestesreeeesaeeseeseeemesraeeomerseeoneanne
Expenses related to defined contribution pension plans.............ccccoeeeenen.
Expenses related to defined benefit pension plans
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2015 2014
3,952 922
100 134
34 85
4,086 1,141
2015 2014
€m
3473 84.1
355 10.8
217 8.6
10.6 2.8
415.1 106.3




NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

6. DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors did not receive any emoluments of their services to the company during the year (2014:
€nil).

7. FINANCE INCOME AND COSTS

Recognised in profit or loss

2015 2014
Finance income €m
Interest receivable on bank balances..........cccoccvviiiniininiiii 0.9 ’ 0.1
Interest receivable on related party balances.............c.ccccceevininiininnnnn. 45 34
Other interest receivable ........ccoiiiiiiiriiirieeceiccr e 4.4 . 53
Total finance income 9.8 8.8
Finance costs i
Interest payable on bank loans and overdrafts.........cc.ccoccovicivinniniinninnnns 78.0 16.3
Interest payable on related party balances............cccoovviiniiniiniiinninneennn. 46.2 17.9
Interest on employee benefit liabilities ........c.ccoveevinnniiiiiiini, 2.8 2.0
Other fiNance ChATGES. .....ccvecviveriieriier ettt v 20.1 12.7
Exchange mOVEMENLS .......cccocieiiiiiimiiiiininircinee e 234 16.7
Total finance costs . 170.5 65.6
Net finance costs .. 160.7 56.8
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

8. TAX CHARGE

Taxation recognised in the consolidated income statement

2015 2014
Current tax expense €m
CUITENE YEAT ....o.eveevreerieienieeteeteeteecrassressesseseestesssaasseesesanesseessaessanssessessesnnes - 04
Adjustments in respect Of PriOr YEArS. ......c.coceeeocririnieeeneeeneeeeecnceeeeaene (0.6) 0.2
Total current tax expense (0.6) 0.6
Foreign tax expense
CUrTent YEar ........occceeeeeeeveerneeeeneeeveeenens : 90.2 4.9
Adjustments in respect of prior years (0.3) (0.7)
Total foreign tax expense 89.9 (5.6)
Deferred tax expense
Origination and reversal of temporary differences..................ce 14.2 (23.9)
Adjustments in respect of Prior YEArS. .......cccocveirueereerenenennnerenrecnenenvenne 2.9 (13.8)
Deferred tax expense (see Note 13) 17.1 (37.7)
Total tax charge/(credit) 106.4 42.7)
Reconciliation of effective tax rate

2015 2014
€m

Profit before taxation 60.5 354.1
Tax using the UK corporation tax rates of 20.25% (2014:21.50%) ........ 12.3 76.1
Non-deductible expenses/tax eXempt FEVENUES .........ccce.veeeereecverrerrecuenrennens 323 (104.3)
Effect of tax rates in foreign jurisdictions......cc.cccoeoiiveeevenerecesisceennnne. (1.5) (14.6)
Deferred tax not reCOZNISEd .......ccocuvveerceiiiieiniieeeerer e et eaeeans 61.3 144
Adjustments in respect Of Prior YEArS.......cccecveririeeeeereniereeeieeseeesieeerenneenns 2.0 (14.3)
Total tax charge/(credit) 106.4 (42.7)

In July 2015, the UK Corporation tax for periods commencing on 1 April 2017 was changed from 20% to 19% and
for periods from 1 April 2020 from 19% to 18%.

Taxation recognised in other comprehensive income

2015 2014
Gross Tax Net Gross Tax Net
Remeasurements of post
employment benefit obligations 5.8 2.0) 3.8 (17.1) 4.5 (12.6)
Total 58 2.0) 3.8 17.1) 4.5 (12.6)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

9. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Cost
Balance at 1 January 2014.............ccooveevveenes
Acquisition through business combinations
Additions........coccoovievccnicniee
Disposal .......cccocooviviiciicicis
Reclassification ..........c.ccoeocviniiiniccnnn
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......
Balance at 31 December 2014.......................
Acquisitions through business combinations .
AddItions.......ocooiiiii
Disposals.......cocciviinieninnnccce e
Reclassification ............ccooooenercneicencninininnn
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......
Balance at 31 December 201S..........ccovveeuuees
Accumulated depreciation and impairment
Balance at 1 January 2014....................
Depreciation charge for the year

Disposals......ccocoieiiiiiiiie
Reclassification.........ccoceeeevvecvreennnnes eeeeeennens
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......
Balance at 31 December 2014.......................
Depreciation charge for the year ...................
Exceptional impairment charge for the year ..
DiSpOSalS.....ceeeieireiiiciieieiecr e
Reclassification.........ccccceeeevevcenicencecnncencnas
Effect of movements in foreign exchange......
Balance at 31 December 2015......................
Net book value

At 31 December 2014 ..........ooeiieenicnccceicenenne

At 31 December 2015

Plant &
machinery,
fixtures
and Assets
fittings, under
Land and and motor Oil and constructi-
buildings vehicles gas on Total
€m
18.9 147.2 - 22.0 188.1
160.1 565.7 - 200.1 9259
1.1 22.7 - 52.1 759
0.3) (7.8) - 4.3) (12.4)
1.6 140.2 - (132.3) 9.5
3.2 28.7 - 5.9 37.8
184.6 896.7 - 143.5 1,224 8
0.6 0.5 799.0 69.6 869.7
0.6 414 1.7 80.5 124.2
- (72.3) - 02 (72.1)
5.6 105.0 - - (110.6) -
9.9 66.1 (34.3) 6.0 47.7
201.3 1,037.4 766.4 189.2 2,194.3
2.6 333 - - 359
4.5 34.6 - - 39.1
0.3) (7.8) - 4.3) (12.4)
0.8 8.7 - - 9.5
0.5 4.1 - 4.3 89
8.1 72.9 - - 81.0
10.0 1479 16.0 - 173.9
1.8 127.0 - - 128.8
0.1) (71.8) - - (71.9)
08 - (0.8) - - -
0.4) 21.6 (0.6) - 20.6
20.2 296.8 15.4 - 332.4
176.5 823.8 - 143.5 1,143.8
181.1 740.6 751.0 189.2 1,861.9

Included in the above are assets held under hire purchase and finance leases with a net book value of

€8.5 million (2014: €9.1 million).

Included in 2015 is an exceptional impairment charge of €128.8 million, which relates to the plant and
machinery assets within the INEOS Bio business at the Vero Beach plant, USA (see Note 3).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS

31 DECEMBER 2015

Evaluation
Intellectual Non and
Licence Customer property compete exploration  Good-
fees lists rights agreements cost will  Total
) €m

Cost
Balance at | January 2014 ..................... 1.7 1.3 - - - - 3.0
Acquisition through business
cOmbInations......ccooeeveevvvecnrrciineciirene 235 746.1 172.2 38.0 - 6629 1,642.7
Additions - - 08 1.3 1.8 - 39
Disposals - - ©.1) - - - 0.1
Reclassification..........ccocecvneeneccrnccccnnnnnn, (1.7) 1.8 0.1 - - - 0.2
Effect of movements in foreign
eXChange ......c.covvniiiiiniiccc 0.7 83 2.0 - - - 11.0
Balance at 31 December 2014 ............... 242 757.5 175.0 393 1.8 662.9 1,660.7
AQdItioNS ....ccveeerriiecereeine e - 40 2.0 0.5 56.1 - 62.6
DiSpOoSals......ccceeerererrieeieeeecneneeeeniens - 4.0) - - - - (4.0)
Acquisition through business
combinations......c..cceveerreeriieenrenininacen, 31.2 - - - - 1.7 329
Effect of movements in foreign (0.4) 275 73 03 (1.8) 48.1 81.0
exchange ...,
Balance at 31 December 2015 ............. 55.0 785.0 184.3 40.1 56.1 712.7 1,833.2
Accumulated amortisation and
impairment
Balance at 1 January 2014 ................... 0.8 0.3 - - - - 1.1
Amortisation for the year...........cc.......... 0.2 14.8 0.5 1.1 - - 16.6
Reclassification...........ccceveceiieeencceinnnnnnn. 0.8) 0.4 0.6 - - - 0.2
Effect of movements in foreign
eXChaNge ......ccceeveemeniiiiierein, - 0.8 - - - - 0.8
Balance at 31 December 2014 ............... 0.2 16.3 I.1 1.1 - - 18.7
Amortisation for the year.................. 3.0 89.8 10.1 10.9 - - 113.8
Effect of movements in foreign
€XChANGE .....oeirieeriecrercee e (0.1) 0.6 0.1 0.2 - - 0.8
Balance at 31 December 2015 3.1 106.7 11.3 12.2 - - 133.3
Net book value
At 31 December 2014 .........cccocevnennneee. 24.0 741.2 173.9 38.2 1.8 662.9 1,642.0
At 31 December 2015........ccccvvvereencnnnes 51.9 678.3 173.0 27.9 56.1 712.7 1,699.9

Amortisation and impairment charge

The amortisation charge for 2015 and 2014 is recognised in administrative expenses in the consolidated

income statement.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

10. INTANGIBLE ASSETS (continued)

Impairment
Goodwill has been allocated to cash generating units (CGU) or groups of cash generating units as
follows:

2015 2014
€m

POlymers EMEA .......oooiiiiee ettt st sre st st st st as s aa e enes 252.0 252.0
Polymers Asia.......... 84.6 80.5
Polymers America 191.1 165.2
SEYTENE IMOMOMET . ...ttt reeteeite ettt eve st s b sae s s caesas s an e sa b bsenne e st e sneeaes 183.3 165.2
OFTSROTE ..o ettt ettt ettt et et ae b s e st s e e e e e e e e e s aine 1.7 -
Total 712.7 662.9

The Group determined the recoverable amount based on value in use. The recoverable amount is
calculated on a long-term business plan for the cash generating units with a detailed planning period of
three years and a consistent terminal growth rate of 0.5 percent for each unit for the period thereafter.
Key assumption on which the management based its cash flow projection is an increase of the EBITDA
over the detailed three year planning period which is seen as the most important performance indicator
and the basis for cash flow estimates used to determine the value in use. The assumption is based on
detailed project plans to increase revenues and profitability.

The main assumptions for the preparation of the three-year-business plan are economic
development in its main customer regions and the resulting demand and supply balance for its product
group. These assumptions are based on external market data as well as internal assessments. For Styrene
Monomer and Polystyrene sales volumes are assessed to stay on comparable level to last year while
volumes for Standard-ABS and specialties are expected to grow notably. Specific margin levels are
expected to stay on the current level for Styrene Monomer and Polystyrene, as well as Standard-ABS,
and are expected to increase slightly for specialties. For the main foreign currencies a stable exchange
rate on the current level is expected so that profitability and cash flows are not materially affected by
exchange rate changes.

No impairment charge has been recorded in these financial statements as a result of the annual
impairment test.

The following discount rates were applied per cash generating unit to determine the cash flow
projection after taxes:

Polymers Polymers Polymers Styrene

EMEA America Asia Monomer
DISCOUNT FALE ....ooeevirerirreeeeeeeeeieeeeeeeeeeeeeeees 7.59%% 8.27% 10.43% 7.93%

Sensitivity of recoverable amounts
The following table presents, for each CGU the change in the discount rate and terminal growth
rate for the tests as of 31 December 2015 that would be required in order for the recoverable amount to

equal carrying value.

Polymers Polymers Polymers Styrene
EMEA America Asia Monomer
DiSCOUNE TALE ...coueeeereicerienieeccceeee e 12.57% 17.83% 15.44% 16.35%
Terminal growth rate...........c.ccoveveevervenineecnnnn. n/a* n/a* n/a* n/a*

* Even a terminal growth rate of 0% would not lead to any impairment.
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11. INVESTMENTS

11a. Investments in Equity—Accounted Investees

Details of the associated undertakings are set out below:

C . a ¢ Ownership
ountry o ass 0
incorporation  shares held 2015 2014
Tricoya Technogies Limited ............ccocceeveeene UK Ordinary - 50%
Fluxel SAS. .....coovviiiiris France Ordinary 20% 20%
Joint Associated
‘ventures undertakings Total
€m
At 1January 2014 .....ooovieeeiieeei ettt 623.4 7.2 630.6
Dividends received..........ocoiiiiriiieiiiiieeeeere ettt - 0.4) 0.4)
Share of profits/(losses) losses retained ...........cooeeevrieeviiininiieninns 55.8 (1.0) 548
Share of other comprehensive iNCOME .......ccoceevireirniiniiniiieniiniiins 43.0 - 43.0
DiSPOSAIS ....veveeiiiiiiiriecereciereere ettt (720.0) - (720.0)
At 31 December 2014 .....conmiiiiieeieee e 2.2 5.8 8.0
TTANSTETS ..ttt s s 2.2) 2.2 -
Business disposal ... - (0.5) (0.5)
At 31 December 2015 - 75 7.5
All of the associated undertakings have December year ends.
Summary aggregated financial information on joint ventures:
2015 2014
€m

- 0.6

- 1.4

- (1.3)

- 0.2

- (1.9)
Summary aggregated financial information on associates:

2015 2014
€m

ASSELS.....oooooeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseseese e eeseesessiss s e s 67.8 68.4
LAGDIIILES ...eoveeeieeereeeeicieetesesies et eesre st st e et ese e ree b e e e et eeseesmeemeenee 26.5 28.2
Revenues........ccoueeereeeveeennns 383 35.6
Profit/(loss) for the year 3.7 (1.0)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED

11. INVESTMENTS (continued)

11b. Investments in subsidiaries

INEOS Industries Holdings Limited*.............cccoceviennnns
Grangemouth CHP Limited.............
INEOS Industries America [l LLC.........ccccoconniinncinnnnnns
INEOS Industries America [ LLC...........ccocooninnnnne.
INEOS ABS (USA) LLC. ...
INEOS Mexico Sde RLde CV.....oooccuiiiiiiiricinne,
INEOS Bio USA LLC...cooiimiiricieceneeceece s
INEOS New Planet BioEnergy LLC.........cccccvimrrcccinnnns
INEOS Melamines LLC..............ccoooiiniiincninns
INEOS Styrenics US LLC......cccoocooiiiniciiece
INEOS ABS (UK) Limited.....................

INEOS Bio Holdings Limited..
INEOS Bio Limited........o.ocooiiiiicne
INEOS Bio Resources Limited.............cccoovinnnininnnn
INEOS ChloroToluenes Limited.............oooovviiennnns
INEOS ChloroToluenes Belgium NV...........ccoooeveieinniens
INEOS Maastricht BV.........cccooniiiniicccncicene
INEOS Healthcare Holdings Limited............ccccocvvvivveenenne
INEOS Healthcare Limited..........c..oocominniiinninieiiene
INEOS Melamines GmbH....
INEOS Melamines Pte Ltd...
INEOS Styrenics European Holding B.V..................c........
INEQS Styrenics Holding France SAS ..o
INEQS Styrenics Ribécourt SAS...........coooiiiniinnn
INEOS Styrenics Wingles SLAS.......c..ooiiciiciinne
INEOS Styrenics Kimyasal Urunler L.S.........................
INEOS Styrenics Manufacturing GmbH...........................
INEOS Styrenics Germany GmbH............coonniiinns
INEOS Styrenics Netherlands B.V........c.cccocoinnnnn.
INEOS Styrenics Services B.V...
INEOS Styrenics UK Limited............ccoooooiiinns
INEOS Styrenics GmbH....................... LU ORI
INEQS Styrenics International S.A..........cccocovvvnnncnennn.
INEOS Vinyls Holdings Italia S.r.l. ...
INEOS Films Italia S.r.l. ...
INEOS Styrolution Holding Limited............c.ooccoovnnnen.
INEOS Styrolution Financing Limited...............cccccoooeins

INEOS Styrolution Investment GmbH..........ccco.cccecrcrncece.
INEOS Styrolution Holding GmbH............c.ccccocovivnnnnn.

31 DECEMBER 2015

Country of Class of Ownership

incorporation shares held 2015 2014
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
Mexico Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 80% 80%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 80% 80%
UK Ordinary 80% 80%
UK Ordinary 80% 80%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 80% 80%
UK Ordinary 80% 80%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Singapore Ordinary 100% 100%
Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
France Ordinary 100% 100%
France Ordinary 100% 100%
France Ordinary 100% 100%
Turkey Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
- Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany ) Ordinary 100% 100%
Switzerland Ordinary 100% 100%
Italy Ordinary 100% 100%
Italy Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
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11. INVESTMENTS (continued)
11b. Investments in subsidiaries (continued)

INEOS Styrolution Beteiligungs GmbH.............c....c..c.
INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH...............coeninnnn.
INEOS Styrolution Belgium N.V............
INEOS Styrolution Belgium Services bvba.......................
INEOQS Styrolution Brazil Holding B.V.........................
Styrolution do Brasil ABS S. Ao
INEOS Styrolution Europe GmbH..
INEOS Styrolution Koln GmbH...................
INEOS Styrolution Ludwigshafen GmbH....................
INEOS Styrolution Schwarzheide GmbH...........................
Styrolution France SAS...
Styrolution Services SAS.......ccceevnnnnnee

INEOS Styrolution Iberia, S.L.......ccccocoeviiinniccciienn
Styrolution Kimyasal Urunler Ticaret Limited.......

INEOS Styrolution Netherlands B.V..........cccococovveevvvienn
Styrolution Poland Sp. Z.0.0.....cccooeiieenriinciincce i
INEOS Styrolution Switzerland S.A............c.ivevnvcnnnne
INEOS Styrolution Verwaltungsgesellschaft mbH..........
Styrolution (Thailand) Co., Ltd.............ccccoceinniiiniiinnns
Styrolution do Brasil Polimeros Ltda...........c.cocoococccncn.
Styrolution South East Asia Company Ltd..........c.cocece..
Styrolution Polymers (Shanghai) Ltd..........................
Styrolution Polymers (Shanghai) Ltd, Guangzhou Branch
Styrolution Italia S.r.l.......c...cooiiiiiii
Styrolution Korea Ltd...........c.coooneeiinicciee
Styrolution Mexicana S.A. de C.V.........ccooviivnnnnnnne

Styrolution OO0 ..ot
Styrolution Servicios S.A. de C.V...coooovivvririinecineen.
Styrolution South East Asia Pte. Ltd
Styrolution ABS (India) Ltd...........cccoiiiin
Styrolution ABS (India) Ltd, Ahmedabad Liaison Office....
Styrolution India Private Ltd............cocooooiiiiin
Styrolution South East Asia Pte. Ltd, Japan Branch
Styrolution Sweden AB.........ccocooiiiiciinicee
Styrolution UK Limited.......c.ccocovioiniieiiicciicecccens
Styrolution US Holding LLC.........cccccovvvevemmnninnccnes
Styrolution America LLC
Styrolution Canada Limited..........c.cccocooveecenciiioninnncns
Styrolution Vietnam Co Ltd ..........ccoovvevireerieeccnccen,
INEOS Upstream Limited...............cccormiiiiinnnniiniinnns
INEOS Offshore BCS Limited...................ooeeiii
INEOS Clipper South B Limited.................c.ooociiin
INEOS Clipper South C Limited....................ooooii

INEOS UK SNS Limited............coooiiiiii
INEOS E&P Holdings Limited...........................o
INEOS Upstream Services Limited..............................

INEOS [ndustries Property Limited.............................

31 DECEMBER 2015

*Held directly by the Company as at 31 December 2015.
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Class of Ownership
Country of shares
incorporation held 2015 2014
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
Belgium Ordinary 100% 100%
Brazil Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
France Ordinary 100% " 100%
France Ordinary 100% 100%
Spain Ordinary 100% 100%
Turkey Ordinary 100% 100%
Netherlands Ordinary 100% 100%
Poland Ordinary 100% 100%
Switzerland Ordinary 100% 100%
Germany Ordinary 100% 100%
Thailand Ordinary 100% 100%
Brazil Ordinary 100% 100%
Singapore Ordinary 100% 100%
China Ordinary 100% 100%
China Ordinary 100% 100%
Italy Ordinary 100% 100%
Korea Ordinary 100% 100%
Mexico Ordinary 100% 100%
Russian

Federation Ordinary 100% 100%
Mexico Ordinary 100% 100%
Singapore Ordinary 100% 100%
India Ordinary 100 75%
India Ordinary 75% 75%
India Ordinary 100% 100%
Japan Ordinary 100% 100%
Sweden Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
United States Ordinary 100% 100%
Canada Ordinary 100% 100%
Vietnam Ordinary 100%. 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%
. UK Ordinary 100% 100%
. UK Ordinary 100% 100%
. UK Ordinary 100% 100%
UK Ordinary 100% 100%



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

12. OTHER FINANCIAL ASSETS

2015 2014
€m
Non-current
Available for sale financial @ssets.........ccooeecieeiiinrceniccenniininiiiennans 4.0 4.0
4.0 4.0

Available for sale financial assets

Auvailable for sale financial assets relate to a 5.43% investment in Accsys Technologies plc, a company
registered in the UK whose principal activity is the development, commercialization and licensing of
technology for the manufacture of Accoya wood, Tricoya wood elements and related acetylation
technologies.

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
Recognised deferred tax assets and liabilities

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are attributable to the following:

2015
Assets Liabilities Total

€m
Property, plant and equipment ...........cccooimninienninencneeee e - (201.1) (201.1)
INtangible aSSELS........cocvevvieiiriiiiiiii i - (325.0) (325.0)
Employee benefits.... ..o 36.3 - 36.3
Tax value of loss carry-forwards...........cccoooiiiiniiniiiiie 67.9 - 67.9
Tax aSSEtS/(lADIIItIES) ......veeeveeeeeeeereseeesesessseeseeseeseeeeseesesseessseeanee 104.2 (526.1) (421.9)
Set off Of taX ..coviiiii e (104.2) 104.2 -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) - (421.9) (421.9)

2014

Assets Liabilities Total

€m
Property, plant and equipment ..........ccocceiniriieiniiiecee e - (184.7) (184.7)
INtANGIbIE @SSELS ....ooveivieiiciertce ettt - (280.9) (280.9)
Employee benefits......ovieeevericcniinecrinieiciiiitenree e 37.1 - 37.1
Tax value of loss carry-forwards.........cocceciviiiiiinniiiiiininiereienes 229 - 22.9
OMHETS ..t - 5.9) (5.9
Tax assets/(liabiliti€s) ........coovrriinreiiriee e 60.0 471.5) 411.5)
Set off of tax ......cccevverrcics (60.0) 60.0 -
Net tax assets/(liabilities) - (411.5) (411.5)
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31 DECEMBER 2015

13. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES (continued)

Movement in deferred tax during the year

Tax value
of loss
Property, carry-
plant and Intangible Employee forward
equipment assets benefits utilised  Other Total
At 1 January 2014 ........coocevieniiiecnn, (1.4) (3.6) 16.0 - 1.5 12.5
Recognised in profit or 10ss................... 17.3 0.6 (5.4) 229 23 37.7
Included in businesses disposed of .......
Recognised in other comprehensive
INCOME....ueeiiieieiirecrieerieeee e e e e e e - - 4.5 - - 4.5
Acquisition through business
COMBINALION ..o, (189.5) (277.9) 22.0 - (129)  (4583)
Exchange adjustments..........ccccceeeenueennes (11.1) - - - 3.2 (7.9)
At 31 December 2014 .........ccoovveevennnc. (184.7) (280.9) 37.1 229 (5.9) (4115
Recognised in profit or loss................... 63) (29.3) 1.2 17.3 - (17.1)
Recognised in other comprehensive )
INCOME.....ueiinieiieirterceteeeteereenrr e e e - - 0 - - 2.0)
Acquisition through business
comMbination ........cecceeeveneenrveneecnneeennns 0.2 - - 27.2 - 274
Exchange adjustments..........cc.ccoeeneennn (10.4) (8.8) - 0.5 - (18.7)
At 31 December 2015.........cnuuuecrsvneen, (201.2) (319.0) 363 67.9 (5.9) (4219

Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that the realisation of the related tax benefit through

future taxable profits is probable based on an assessment of expected future profits modelled against the

gross tax losses available over a period of 10 years. The Group did not recognise gross deductible
temporary differences of €250.3 million (2014: €99.2 million).

The Group has not provided deferred tax in relation to temporary differences on its overseas subsidiaries
or joint ventures as the Group can control the timing and realisation of these temporary differences, and

it is probable that no material unprovided tax liability would arise.

14. INVENTORIES

2015 2014
€m
RaAW MALETIAlS. ...ceouiiieiiiieiee ettt ettt e e 145.8 174.5
WOTK N PTOZTESS...coveerieeiierineeteieenrtenestesie st st sae s e e e e e e s e e s e eanean 94.3 204.7
Finished Z00dS ...eoiveeieireieee ettt et 252.3 202.0
492.4 581.2

Raw materials, work in progress and finished goods recognised as cost of sales in the year amounted to
€3,131.6 million (2014: €1,082.7 million). The net write-down of inventories to net realisable value
amounted to €23.9 million (2014: €19.6 million) after the reversal of previous write downs of €16.0
million (2014: €9.1 million).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2015 2014
€m
Current
Trade reCeiVADIES .....cocveuireeiieicie ettt 555.2 621.4
Amounts due from related parties...........c.oceveermeieieiriccnnnieecece e 23.0 54.8
Other reCeivabIes .......ccoceiviirieiiecrc et 98.7 84.1
Prepayments. ... ..c..couiieiioiiieeiie ettt 11.2 38.9
: 688.1 799.2
Non-current
Amounts due from related parti€s ...........ccoevveceereiniiiniiineereenecnerennns - 78.3
Prepayments and accrued iNCOME .......c.oooccericeeniiereniiniiiiiciencceeceeeienens 04 04
Other reCeivables ........ooiiiriiiic e s 34 4.2
38 82.9

Credit quality of financial assets and impairment losses
The ageing of trade and other receivables at the end of the reporting period was:

Amounts due from related

Trade receivables parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment "Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2015 2015 2015 2015 2015 2015
€m

Not past due.................. 519.9 ©.1) 161.9 (138.9) 102.1 -
Past due 0-30 days ...... 306 - - - - -
Past due 31-90 days...... 5.4 (2.6) - - - -
More than 90 days........ .49 (2.9) - - - -
560.8 - (5.6) 161.9 (138.9) 102.1 -

Amounts due from related

Trade receivables parties Other receivables
Gross Impairment Gross Impairment Gross Impairment
2014 2014 2014 2014 2014 2014
€m

Not past due.................. 612.5 - 133.1 - 84.5 -
Past due 0-30 days ....... 83 - - - 34 -
Past due 31-90 days...... 0.8 0.5) - - 0.1 -
More than 90 days........ 4.8 (4.5) - - 0.3 -
626.4 (5.0) 133.1 - 88.3 -

The accounts receivable not yet due after impairment losses as of the end of the reporting period are
deemed to be collectible on the basis of established credit management processes such as regular
analyses of the credit worthiness of our customers and external credit checks where appropriate for new
customers (see Note 22.c). At 31 December 2014 and 2015 there were no significant trade, related party
or other receivable balances not past due that were subsequently impaired.
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15. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment:

Total

€m

Balance as at 31 December 2014 ..o e 5.0
Impairment 1085 released..........cccoiieiirciiniennieiccicee e e (0.6)
Allowance made in the Period..........c.ocooiiiiiiiii e 140.1

Balance at 31 December 2015 144.5

The allowance account for trade receivables is used to record impairment losses unless the Group is
satisfied that no recovery of the amount owing is possible; at that point the amounts considered
irrecoverable are written off against the trade receivables directly.

There were no allowances made against amounts due from other receivables during the years ended 31
December 2015 and 2014.

During the year ended 31 December 2015 there was an allowance made of €138.9 million against
outstanding loans due from INEOS Bio SA, a related party, following adverse changes in market
conditions and production issues at the Vero Beach plant, USA (see Note 3).

16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS

This note provides information about the contractual terms of the Group’s interest-bearing loans and
borrowings, which are measured at amortised cost. For more information about the Group’s exposure to
interest rate and foreign currency risk, see Note 22.

2015 2014

Non-current liabilities €m
Securitisation FACHlTtiEs .........ooeiviiiiieeieeie e e 135.7 2733
BONd INAENTUIE.......ceeeeeeieeiteeeteecie et ettt ree e s ee et eemen e reeeenmneceenne e 48.5 459
Senior Secured Term LOan.........cc.oovieeiireiecieriee et ceneeeenneen 1,082.4 1,035.2
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan .........ccooceivcrviniiniiiiiiniiciicneceseer e 200.0 200.0
INEOS UpStream l0an ...........ccccoeiiieieincnniiiiniiiiei st 571.5 -
Finance lease liability........coooooiiiiiiiiiiieirc e 7.8 7.8
2,045.9 1,562.2
2015 2014

Current liabilities €m
Securitisation FACHlItieS . ........ooiiiiiiiiiiiiieeieer e e - 31.8
Bond indenture.........c.cocooiieiinnnee 25 2.1
Senior Secured Term Loan 11.3 -
Other LOANS......ouvivveeeeiee ettt te sttt e st et e e e et sae e e e e seeneeseenaeananns 209 25.6
Finance lease Hability........c.coouieiieiiieinieeicnceiiicis et 0.1 0.2
34.8 59.7
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)

Gross loans Net loans
and ‘ and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
2015 2015 2015
Gross debt and issue costs €m
Securitisation Facilities 135.7 - 135.7
Bond indenture.........cccoeeicrieiiennenen. ereerteer e ee s et ae e sne st e es e e e e sraenen 54.3 33 51.0
Senior Secured Term Loan............. et teeeeee—eeeteaeeeeree e an—ttaaaeaaaaaeaaarans 1,120.8 27.1) 1,093.7
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan 200.0 - 200.0
INEOS Upstream 10an ...........coueeeecrmicircnnmniecceneneneseeiens 571.5 - 571.5
Other LOAMNS....cuveeeeereieecere ettt secrm et et sanesseesanEane s 20.9 - 20.9
Finance lease liability..........cccveenenns e e e e eaeerenreeaareas 7.9 - 7.9
2,111.1 (30.49) 2,080.7
Gross loans Net loans
and and
borrowings Issue costs borrowings
2014 2014 2014
Gross debt and issue costs €m
Securitisation Facilities ........ccveoevoviiveeriieercienree e 3054 (0.3) 305.1
Bond iNdentUre.......ccovvieniieieiieiieie et 512 3.2) 48.0
Senior Secured Term LOan.........coccovveorveviiininnieeneceiceienrreceeee e 1,069.6 (34.4) 1,035.2
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan 200.0 - 200.0
Other LOANS.....ccoeeeeeeeireeeeee e ecreeeeeseeeesereseseesreeeenaesnereans 25.6 - ) 25.6
Finance lease liability........cooovimeereinneeenecccin e 8.0 - 8.0
1,659.8 (37.9) 1,621.9
Terms and debt repayment schedule
Nominal interest Year of
Terms and debt repayment schedule Currency rate maturity
Securitisation FacCilities .........covviieeerrierceiicenc et USD/Euro . 1.5%-2.25% 2018-2019
Bond indenture..........cooveeiieiieiiiniieniesicnerenc ettt USD LIBOR+4% 2031
EURIBOR/USD
Senior Secured Term Loan.........c.cooiiiiiininiiciinieienccc e USD/Euro LIBOR +550 bps 2019
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan Euro 9.5% 2020
INEOS Upstream 10an ...........ccecceiceemeninecrieniireeeieceerenniecvesneenenns USD 7.0% 2020

Receivables Securitisation Facilities

The Group has three receivables securitisation facilities (which are secured on certain trade receivables
of the Group). The Styrolution securitisation facility is a €500.0 million facility which matures in May
2019. The total amount outstanding at 31 December 2015 was €100.0 million (2014: €251.0 million).
The INEOS ABS securitisation facility is a $50.0 million facility which matures in August 2019. The
total amount outstanding at 31 December 2015 was €6.9 million (2014: €22.3 million). The INEOS
Styrenics securitisation facility is a €50.0 million facility which matures in June 2018. The total amount
outstanding at 31 December 2015 was €28.8 million (2014: €31.8 million).

Bond Indenture

INEOS Bio US LLC, an 80% owned subsidiary has outstanding borrowings of €51.0 million (2014:
€48.0 million) under a bond indenture, of which €2.5 million (2014: €2.1 million), is due within one
year. The bonds are guaranteed by the US Department of Agriculture. The bonds bear interest at LIBOR
plus 4.0% per annum and mature in 2031. The bond is stated net of debt issue costs of €3.3 million
(2014: €3.2 million). These costs are allocated to the income statement over the term of the bond.
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16. INTEREST-BEARING LOANS AND BORROWINGS (continued)
Senior Secured Term Loan

The Group has borrowings under a First Lien Term Loan B of approximately €1.05 billion with
institutional investors. The borrowings consist of Euro and US Dollar tranches of €525.0 million and
$662.5 million, respectively, each with a maturity of five years and variable interest at
EURIBOR/LIBOR with a floor of 1.0 percent + 550 basis points. INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH and
INEOS Styrolution US Holding LLC are the borrowers and the loans are secured by first liens over the
assets of INEOS Styrolution Group GmbH and its subsidiaries.

PIK Toggle Loan

The Group has a second lien PIK toggle loan from INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party, to INEOS
Styrolution Holding GmbH of €200 million with a fixed interest rate of 9.5 percent when paid in cash
(or, in case the Total Net Debt Leverage of Styrolution Holding GmbH exceeds 3.25 times LTM
EBITDA, 10.25 percent when accumulated or paid-in-kind).

INEOS Upstream Loan
During the year INEOS Holdings Limited, a related party provided a loan of $623.7 million to INEOS
Upstream Limited in connection with its acquisition of natural gas assets in the North Sea. The loan is

unsecured and matures on 26 October 2020 and bears interest at 7.0 percent per annum.

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

Minimum
lease
payments Interest Principal
2015
€m
Less than ONe Year.........ccccoeivviniiiiiniiiiinccnee et 05 049 0.1
Between one and five Years.........cocecevceenennicnmiineniiieeieens 1.8 (1.2) 0.6
More than five Years .........coceeeeeeceiireietereerieericsee e 1.8 (4.6) 7.2
14.1 (6.2) 7.9
Minimum
lease
payments Interest Principal
2014
€m -
LeSS than ONE YEAT.......c.cccvevrreriieiienriceesereeeeenreeeeeeeessessanasns 0.5 (0.3) 0.2
Between one and five YEars.......cccovveveeverieneicecrienenneenieennnnes 1.4 (1.3) 0.1
More than five Years ..o 12.2 4.5) 7.7
14.1 6.1 8.0
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17. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2015 2014
Current €m
Trade payables .........c.cc.ovieieeireriiceir ettt 382.0 4874
Amounts due to related parties.......ccoccceerereeriiicenecree e 270.1 241.0
Other PAYADIES ...cceeenieeeieieet ettt ee e e e s sea e 239 2320
Accruals and deferred inCOME..........cccevveveviiiiiiiceeeeeceer e 227.5 214.6
903.5 11,1750
Non-current
Amounts due to related parties. ........cccoceriiiieceeeincenncnniene s 2774 194.7
Other PaYabIES ........coouieiieieeeeee et s e ieeee 11.6 16.9
Accruals and deferred inCoOme.........cccoiiieeviniiniiecrceer e ' 152.0 55.6
441.0 267.2

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS
Pension plans

The Group operates a number of pension and post-retirement medical plans throughout the world,
devised in accordance with local conditions and practices. The plans are generally of the defined benefit
type and those that are funded are done so by payments to separately administered funds or insurance
companies. The principal funded plans are in Canada, the United States and Germany.

The Group also operates a number of unfunded defined benefit pension schemes in Thailand and
Germany and unfunded post-retirement medical plans in Canada and the United States.

Plan Country Valuation date
All Plans . Belgium 31 December 2015
All Plans Canada 31 December 2014
All Plans France 31 December 2015
All Plans. Germany 31 December 2015
All Plans The Netherlands 31 December 2014
All Plans Korea 31 December 2015
All Plans Mexico 31 December 2015
All Plans Switzerland 31 December 2015
All Plans Thailand 31 December 2015
All Plans, United States 31 December 2015

The Group’s pension schemes have been disclosed on a geographical basis as those schemes in Europe,
North America and the Rest of the World.

The European pension arrangements are a mix of final salary, career average, unit benefit and cash
balance plans in nature, and the majority are closed to new entrants. The majority of the plans are
funded via insurance policies and there are also a number of unfunded German plans with associated
provisions held on the Group’s balance sheet.

The North American pension arrangements consist of three funded plans in the United States, (all of
which are closed to future accrual) and two funded plans in Canada (one of which is closed to new
entrants and the other to future accrual). All pension plans, except one, are final salary defined benefit in
nature, and the plans’ liabilities are valued regularly in line with statutory funding requirements. Across
all five plans, between 80% and 90% of the plans’ assets are invested in bond instruments, to closely
match the profile of each plans’ liabilities. There are also three unfunded post-retirement medical plans
in the United States and one in Canada.

The Rest of the World pension arrangements are comprised of the Group’s pension plans in South Korea,
Mexico and Thailand.
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Pension plan assumptions

The principal actuarial assumptions (expressed as weighted averages or ranges) at the year-end were as
follows:

European North America Rest of the world
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Major assumptions
Rate of general increase in 2.25% - :
Salaries .......covvveviiniiiinnian 3.00% 2.76% 3.31% 3.30% 5.04% 5.05%
Rate of increase to pensions in 0.00% - 0.00%-
PAYMENL.....coirienierrirriniiaennas 1.00% 1.75% 0.50% 0.50% 1.75% 0.00%
Discount rate for scheme 1.00% -
liabilities.......occoverrenerncancrcnnn 2.50% 221% 4.01% 3.75% 3.89% 4.06%
1.25% -
Inflation.......cccoevceurcemeuennnnnen. 2.00% 1.77% 2.19% 2.15% 3.29% 3.34%

The assumptions relating to longevity underlying the pension liabilities at the reporting date are based
on standard actuarial mortality tables and include an allowance for future improvements in longevity.
The assumptions are equivalent to expecting a 65-year old to live for a number of years as follows:

European North America Rest of the world
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
Longevity at are 65 for current
PENSIONETS ...conmrenraiereneereenne .. 18.0-28.0 19.2-23.0  21.9-23.8  20.5-22.7 16.5-19.9 15.8-18.9

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial
assumption:

European North America Rest of the world
2015 2014 2015 2014 2015 2014
% % %
Discount rate 1.0% decrease .... 23.80 24.89 15.02 15.37 7.17 8.22
Rate of inflation 0.5% increase 8.88 9.56 1.79 2.03 0.67 0.83
1 year increase in longevity for .
amember aged 65........cccoceee 245 2.21 1.68 1.84 0.20 0.19

The sensitivity to the inflation assumption change includes corresponding changes to the future salary
increase and future pension increase assumptions where these assumptions are set to be linked to the
inflation assumption.
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)
Post-retirement health care plans

The Group also operates a number of post-retirement healthcare plans in the North America, which
provide employees with other post-employment benefits in respect of health care. The plans are
unfunded and the liability in respect of these benefits is included in provisions. The liability is assessed
by qualified independent actuaries under the projected unit method, assuming the following rates:

2015 2014
%
Liability diSCOUNt FALE ......eevvieiieerier bttt s 4.14 3.75
Long-term medical trend rate..........cooerieiiiniiccc s 4.89 4.88
History of plans
The history of the plans for the current and prior years is as follows:
Consolidated balance sheet
2015 2014
€m
_ Present value of the defined benefit obligation in respect of pension plans........ 251.6 2313
Present value of obligations in respect of post-retirement health care plan......... 23.1 229
Fair value of plan @SSets ......cc.ccoreiiierneeiicnicereicii s e et (167.0) (149.9)
Deficit 107.7 104.3

The Group’s net liability in respect of defined benefit obligations is as follows:

2015 2014

Obligations in respect of pension plans: €m

EULOPEAN ...ttt s n e r e 85.0 81.2
North America 3.3) 2.0)
RESE O WOTIA.....eeiieeeecee et ac st e esarsnaes 29 2.2
Total obligations in respect of pension plans 84.6 81.4
Obligations in respect of post-retirement care plans 23.1 22.9
Recognised liability for defined benefit obligations 107.7 104.3

The Group expects to contribute approximately €8.2 million (2014: €4.7 million) to its funded defined
benefit plans in the next financial year. This excludes direct company benefit payments and payments in
relation to unfunded defined benefit plan schemes.

55



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Consolidated income statement

Post-
retirement
North Rest of the health
European America world - care plans Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2015
CUurrent SErvice COSt.....eevermrerereeereeeerreerecnnens 8.9 0.6 0.8 0.5 10.8
Past service cost - - - - -
Settlement gains 0.2) - - - 0.2)
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation ..... 34 3.1 0.3 0.9 7.7
Interest incOme ON aSSEtLS.......o.veeuieceriuicnnnnne (1.5) 3.2) (0.2) - (4.9)
10.6 0.5 0.9 1.4 13.4
Post-
retirement
N health care
European North America plans Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2014
Current SErvice COSt......coevreruevueieiericicrcinenes 22 0.1 0.2 25
Past Service Cost......ccceerneenuirninnncenciniriienne 0.2 - - 0.2
Settlement gains.........cccoecvviieiiiiiiiiecieens . - - -
Cost of termination benefits..............c........... - - - -
Interest cost on defined benefit obligation ..... 1.7 0.9 0.4 3.0
Interest income on asset........c.ooovvvvviviiiuncnnnn. (0.3) (0.8) - (L.1)
Adjustments on interest COSt.......cc..ccoccruennnn. - 0.1 - 0.1
3.8 0.3 0.6 4.7
The expense is recognised in the following line items in the consolidated income statement:
2015 2014
€m
Cost of sales, distribution and administrative €Xpenses ........ccccoeeereeirieeennnns 10.6 2.7
INEt FINANCE COSL..ueinniiriiiriiieeteeeieecerrreereesreestteestbeerabeesasteesbeseesenemeeesarneeenees 2.8 2.0
13.4 4.7
Pension plans
North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2015
Present value of funded obligations .........cc.cccoevvviinninnnns 119.1 79.5 8.0 206.6
Present value of unfunded obligations ..........cccccoceeiniee 43.8 - 1.2 45.0
162.9 79.5 9.2 251.6
Fair value of plan assets........ccccccvnrereinicniininiiiecniinnnns (77.9) (82.8) (6.3) (167.0)
85.0 3.3) 2.9 84.6
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Pension plans (continued)

North Rest of the
Eurobean America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2014
Present value of funded obligations......... 105.1 77.3 7.2 189.6
Present value of unfunded obligations 40.7 - 1.0 41.7
145.8 773 8.2 231.3
Fair value of plan assets.........ccoceeeecrcrrereencnneenrecernenenns (64.6) (79.3) (6.0) (149.9)
81.2 (2.0) 22 81.4
Movements in present value of defined benefit obligation:
North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
At 1 January 2014......oveeeereereenenne. ceeeeeeee et reneeee 445 16.2 - 60.7
CUITENt SETVICE COSE ..eenvinienriieireretententceeresee e e e areaeas 22 0.1 0.1 24
PaSt SETVICE COSL....vermiernrirrienie ettt eee et 0.2 - - 0.2
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations ....................... 1.7 0.9 - 2.6
Member contributions...........coceoviiicimniiienicieens 0.3 - - 0.3
Actuarial 10ss/(gain) — eXperience .....c.coceevevreereernens 0.5 0.1) (0.1) 0.3
Actuarial loss — demographic assumptions 0.2 - - 0.2
Actuarial loss — financial assumptions...........cccocoeceeiinnn 17.3 2.4 - 19.7
Disbursements from plan assets...........c..ccevveervrreererrenennes - (0.9) ©(0.1) (1.0)
Disbursements paid directly by the employer.................... (1.3) 0.2) 0.1 (1.4)
Acquisitions 80.6 53.8 7.9 142.3
EXCRANGE ..o evveeeeeeeeeeesseeeeeaseeesssesseenaee s (0.4) 5.1 0.3 5.0
At 31 December 2014 145.8 77.3 8.2 231.3
CUITENE SETVICE COSL..uvieurenrirrienerererrreirenseeesaenseasasesssaeseeas 89 0.6 0.8 10.3
Past SErVICe COSt......coiiiiieiiiiiiereeceec et - - - -
Settlement Zains.........ccceveeerirrenieeiiee e 0.2) - - 0.2)
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations...................... 34 3.1 0.3 6.8
Member contribUtions..........ccvveerveeervereesiennreeee e 0.5 0.1 - 0.6
Actuarial gain — eXPErienCe .......cccoevuvermiririnicncninicieecnneeas 0.7) (1.0) - (1.7)
Actuarial loss — demographic assumptions............cc......... - 1.4 - 1.4
Actuarial loss/(gain) — financial assumptions..................... 23 3.0 - (0.8)
Disbursements from plan assets....... veerert et e e e e e naaes (0.8) 4.2) (0.3) (5.3)
Disbursements paid directly by the employer.................... (3.0) (0.2) - 3.2)
Reclassifications .........ccoueeeerieeeneneenreieniceececeiccecne e 6.4 4.0 0.2 10.6
EXChaNEE ....c.eovuieiiiiiaiiniciieicctceccntciicncenca s 0.3 1.5 - 1.8
At 31 December 2015 162.9 79.5 9.2 251.6
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18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

Movements in fair value of plan assets:

At 1January 2014 ..o
Interest income on plan assets .........cccoivvieeriienieeeenne.
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate....
Employer contributions ..........ccccccovveiinninininniiinens
Member contributions..........cccceceviicininiinicnnnieeernnens
DiSbUrsements ..........coccoeeieiiinirnteneerciniececeeeseeeeeens
ACQUISIEIONS ....ceeiniiriiciieiieiectine et s
EXChange .......coovvuiiiiiiiiiiiniiciinreceesveee e
At 31 December 2014

Interest income on plan assets ..........cccecverevirceiiennennnes
Return on plan assets greater/(less) than discount rate....
Employer contributions ...........cc.cccooioiniininicnnnnns
Member contributions...........cocceercerricicnenceereee e
DisbUrsements ........c..cccereernerrerrreereecirecines e
Reclassifications ........coceveerierieniecomncenenreneeeere e
Exchange

At 31 December 2015

North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
4.8 12.5 - 17.3
0.3 0.8 - 1.1
2.1 1.9 0.1 4.1
5.4 0.8 0.1 6.3
03 - 0.1 0.4
(1.2) (rn 0.2) 2.5)
53.0 59.7) 5.9 118.6
(0.1) 4.7 - 4.6
64.6 79.3 6.0 149.9
1.5 32 0.2 4.9
42 (1.8) 0.3) 2.1
10.5 1.8 0.4 12.7
0.5 0.1 - 0.6
(3.9) 4.4 (0.3) (8.6)
- 4.0 - 4.0
0.5 0.6 0.3 1.4
779 82.8 6.3 167.0

The overall expected rate of return is calculated by weighting the individual rates in accordance with the

anticipated balance in the plan’s investment portfolio.

The fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

Year ended 31 December 2015
Equities

Government bonds

Total plan assets

North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
294 9.8 0.5 39.7
20.1 54.7 0.8 75.6
11.1 17.6 - 28.7
17.3 0.7 5.0 23.0
77.9 82.8 6.3

167.0

58



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

18. EMPLOYEE BENEFITS (continued)

The fair value of the plan assets were as follows:

North Rest of the
European America world Total
€m
Year ended 31 December 2014
22.2 9.3 0.6 32.1
42.4 70.0 5.4 117.8
Total plan assets 64.6 79.3 6.0 149.9

There are no plans which hold investments in the Group’s own financial instruments, or hold assets or
property which are used by the Group.

Post-retirement health care plans

Reconciliation of present value of scheme liabilities:

2015 2014
€m

AL T JANUALY ettt een et rae st ene s seseebe sassesaeenentensssannas 229 7.8
Current service cost 0.5 0.2
Interest cost on defined benefit obligations...........cccccoecvviiiiiiiiicnninnaen. 0.9 04
Actuarial [0SS — EXPEMIENCE ....cccueuiriiiiiiiiiiciicereceeeee et 1.3) -
Actuarial loss — demographic assumptions ...........ccccoveeviviicinunnicnnnneens (0.3) 0.1
Actuarial gain — financial assumptions ........... (1.0) 0.9
Disbursements directly paid by the employer 0.7 (0.3)
PaSt SEIVICE COSL...virurrereiierenirenrieeercereeeneereeraesenreseesnessnessacsbsesasssassssnans - -
ACQUISTEION ...ttt ettt ereeae e besabestbcnnesanesssanesare s - 12.0
ReCIASSIICALIONS .....eeeuiieieiieeiceree ettt e e e et eeeeseeesiens 03 -
Exchange adjustments 1.8 1.8
At 31 December 23.1 229

The post-retirement healthcare plans do not hold any assets.

The following table presents the sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to each significant actuarial
assumption:

2015 2014
%
Discount rate 1.0% decrease ..........c.coccovvviriiiiinniiniininieieeee e 12.37 12.35
Rate of inflation 0.5% increase 0.00 0.00
1 year increase in longevity for a member currently aged 65..................... 1.52 1.92
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19. PROVISIONS

Severance
and
restructuring
Retirement costs Other Total
€m

At 1January 20014 ... - 18.1 12.0 30.1
Reclassifications .......ccccoccevveniviiiicniiiiienecns 4.5) 4.3) (6.0) (14.8)

Amounts arising from acquisitions...........ccccveevenins - 38.0 79.1 117.1

Provision made during period........... 54 (1L.1) 10.1 44
Provision released during the period - Q9 (5.8 8.7

Exchange adjustments..........cocooveeviniinniinriniincinnnnns 0.2 1.0 1.0 2.2

At 31 December 2014 .........ooooveeorereernseeeerseeeees 11 388 904 1303
Utilised during the period...........cccccoveiiiiniiniennnnn. (1.1 44.9) (23.6) (69.6)
ReClasSifications .........coceereereermeceerrecnrniorisninsaesnnnes 1.0) 259 (34.3) 9.4)

Amounts arising from acquisitions...............cccoevernne. - - 2722 2722
Provision made during period...........ccc.oincciiinen. 1.0 8.0 - 9.0
Provision released during the period..........ccoceonuens - - (13.6) (13.6)

Discount unwinding......coccoecerveevceivcnnnnncneneens e - - 1.1 1.1
Exchange adjustments - 1.9 (5.2 3.3)
At 31 December 2015 - 29.7 287.0 316.7
1.1 16.1 57.4 74.6

- 22.7 33.0 55.7

1.1 38.8 90.4 130.3

Non — current - 18.2 256.2 274.4

CUITENL ..ttt see et st e e seeeeeresnaeeesnassnnes - 11.5 30.8 423
Balance at 31 December 2015 - 29.7 287.0 316.7

Severance and restructuring

The Group has provided €25.2 million (2014: €35.9 million) of severance and restructuring costs in
relation to the closure of the Marl site in Germany, and a further €1.7 million in relation to the closure of
the Trelleborg site in Sweden, together with €2.8 million of costs for other Styrolution re-organisations.

Other provisions

Included in other provisions in 2014 was €22.1 million related to two legal proceedings against the
Group which originated from the termination of a partnership and alleged non-performance as a
contractual partner for certain feedstock processing contracts. During 2015 an agreement was reached
and these disputes have been settled.

The Group has €11.9 million (2014: €28.7 million) of other provisions relating to two onerous contracts
for a styrene supply mainly in Asia. The provision has been estimated by management using
expectations of future market conditions until the end of the contract.

The Group has €259.8 million of other provisions for estimated decommissioning and restoration costs
of the Group’s facilities in the North Sea, which includes the removal of platforms, subsequent
dismantlement and disposal on shore, as well as restoration of the sea bed. Decommissioning is
expected at the end of their economic lives, which is expected to be up to 2040.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015 :

20. SHARE CAPITAL

2015 2014
€m

Fully paid .
197,500 (2014: 197,500) ordinary shares of £0.00001 each .................... - -

The holders of ordinary shares are entitled to receive dividends as declared from time to time and are
entitled to one vote per share at meetings of the Company.

21. DIVIDENDS
The following dividends were recognised during the year:

2015 2014

€m
Dividend Paid........cccoeeiieiiiernieeee s 11.3 4.0

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
22.a Fair values of financial instruments
Investments in debt and equity securities

The fair value of other investments shown as loans and receivables is estimated as the present value of
future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date.

Auvailable for sale financial assets are accounted for at fair value based on the present value of future
cash flows where such information is readily available based on the present value of future cash flows
estimated from financial information made available during the year as a result of a recent transaction in
the investment.

Trade and other receivables

The carrying amount of trade and other receivables generally approximates to fair value due to their
short maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term and where the effect is material, fair value
is estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the
reporting date.

Trade and other payables
The carrying amount of trade and other payables generally approximates to fair value due to their short
maturities. Where settlement is not due in the short term and where the effect is material, fair value is

estimated as the present value of future cash flows discounted at the market rate of interest at the
reporting date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)

22.a Fair values of financial instruments (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents -

The fair value of cash and cash equivalents is estimated as its carrying amount where the cash is
repayable on demand. Where it is not repayable on demand then the fair value is estimated at the
present value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date.
Interest-bearing borrowings

Fair value is calculated based on the present value of future principal and interest cash flows, discounted
at the market rate of interest at the balance sheet date. The fair value of finance leases is determined by
reference to market rates for similar lease agreements. The fair value of the related party loans is the

same as the carrying value. The fair value of securitisation facilities is the same as the carrying value.

Fair values

The fair values for each class of financial assets and financial liabilities together with their carrying
amounts shown in the consolidated balance sheet are as follows:

2015 2014
Carrying Carrying
amount Fair value amount Fair value
€m
Loans and receivables carried at amortised cost:..
Trade receivables .....ccoeveeerreereneenieceenen e 555.2 555.2 621.4 621.4
Amounts due from related parties ..........coecvevvrieennenns 23.0 23.0 133.1 133.1
Other receivables .......ceeeveeiivrcerreee e 102.1 102.1 88.3 88.3
Loans and receivables 680.3 680.3 842.8 842.8
Cash and cash equivalents..........cocceveievicnieninnecnnn. 567.2 567.2 404.1 404.1
Total financial assets 1,247.5 1,247.5 1,246.9 1,246.9
Financial liabilities carried at amortised cost:
Trade payables ............coeeiniininiiicee 382.0 382.0 4874 487.4
Other payables ..o 355 35.5 248.9 248.9
Securitisation facilities..........oceevveeeieericeeinennenieneene 135.7 135.7 305.1 305.1
Bond indenture...........ccccoeiiiiiiiiiiirccie e 51.0 51.0 48.0 48.0
Amount due to related parties 547.5 547.5 435.7 435.7
Senior Secured Term Loan.......c.cccoevvevveinniencennnnnnne 1,093.7 1,093.7 1,035.2 1,035.2
Finance lease liabilities .........cceevverriceniceniiccnneennnnee 7.9 7.9 8.0 8.0
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan..........cccooveviiniinnnaes 200.0 200.0 200.0 200.0
INEOS Upstream [0an .........cccoccveeeveencvceieiiinennnnns 571.5 571.5 - -
Other [0NS.......cuveveetreeiereeieereereeteerer v esaaiasseeseeenee 20.9 20.9 25.6 25.6

Total financial liabilities 3,045.7 3,045.7 2,793.9 2,793.9
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.b Net gains and losses from financial instruments

Net gains and losses from financial instruments comprise the results of valuations, the amortisation of
discounts, the recognition and derecognition of impairment losses, results from the translation of foreign
currencies, interest, dividends and all effects on profit or loss of financial instruments.

Net gains from receivables and loans relate primarily to recognition and derecognition of impairment
losses, results from the translation of foreign currencies and interest income.

Net losses from financial liabilities measured at amortised cost relate primarily to amortisation of
discounts, results from the translation of foreign currencies, interest expense and other financing related
expenses.

The item ‘financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss’ comprise valuation gains and losses,
and only includes gains and losses from instruments which are not designated as hedging instruments as
defined by IAS 39.

The following table shows the gross gains and losses during the period and on which financial
instruments they arose:

Loans and receivables

2015 2014
€m
FINAnCe iNCOME .....coovemiiiiieieieeeeceeeee ettt 9.0 8.6
Foreign exchange gains...........coooiiiiiii e 11.4 7.5
Net result 204 16.1
Carrying value at 31 December 680.3 - 8428

Loans and receivables

2015 2014
€m
FINANCE COS ...oveeeiierienieiieeeeceieeeee e tee e nenaens eeveeresreereeseeneseatessantennn (134.7) (45.6)
Other fINANCE COSt.....viiiiiiiieiie it aee e s eeees (8.3) (1.3)
Foreign eXchange l0SSES.......cciieimiemirieiienieneicnicnreie et (34.8) (24.3)
Net result (177.8) (71.2)
Carrying value at 31 December 3,045.7 2,793.9

22.¢ Credit risk
Financial risk management

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Group’s receivables
from customers and deposits with financial institutions.

Group Treasury policy and objectives in relation to credit risk is to minimize the likelihood that the
Group will experience financial loss due to counterparty failure and to ensure that in the event of a
single loss, the failure of any single counterparty would not materially impact the financial wellbeing of
the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.c Credit risk (continued)
Trade and other receivables

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each
customer. However, management also considers the demographics of the Group’s customer base,
including the default risk of the industry and country in which customers operate, as these factors may
have an influence on credit risk. Management considers that there is no geographical concentration of
credit risk. The Group has established a credit policy under which each new customer is analysed
individually for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard payment and delivery terms and
conditions are offered or are adjusted accordingly. The Group’s review includes external ratings, when
available, and in some cases bank references. Purchase limits are established for each customer, which
represent the maximum open amount without requiring approval. Customers that fail to meet the
Group’s benchmark creditworthiness may transact with the Group only on a prepayment basis.

Investments, cash and cash equivalents

Surplus cash investments are only made with banks with which the Group has a relationship.
Occasionally deposits are made with banking counterparties that provide financing arrangements,
reducing the credit exposure of the Group.

Exposure to credit risk

The carrying amount of financial assets represents the maximum credit exposure. Therefore, the
maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date was the carrying amount of financial assets.

22.d Liquidity risk
Financial risk management

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
The Group’s approach to managing liquidity is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will always have
sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, under normal and stressed conditions, without
incurring unacceptable losses or risking damage to the Group. The Group’s exposure to liquidity risk is
limited by the fact that it operates with significant cash resources, and it maintains the most appropriate
mix of short, medium and long-term borrowings from the Group’s lenders.

The Group is reliant on committed funding from a variety of sources at Group and subsidiary company
level to meet the anticipated needs of the Group for the period covered by the Group’s budget.

The Group forecasts on a regular basis the expected cash flows that will occur on a weekly and monthly
basis. This information is used in conjunction with the weekly reporting of actual cash balances at bank
in order to calculate the level of funding that will be required in the short and medium term. On a
monthly basis the level of headroom on existing facilities is reported and forecast forward until the end
of the financial year/period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.d Liquidity risk (continued)

The following are the contractual maturities of financial liabilities, including estimated interest
payments and excluding the effect of netting agreements:

2015
5 years
Carrying Contractual 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<S and
amount cash flows less years years over
€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities
Trade payables...........cccccevcecnrnncne. 382.0 382.0 382.0 - - -
Other payables .........cccccorvcmenecnncennee 355 35.5 23.9 11.6 - -
Senior Secured Term Loan................ 1,093.7 1,400.6 . 85.1 842 12313 -
Amount due to related parties ............ 547.5 547.5 270.1 2774 - -
Securitisation facilities....................... 135.7 135.7 - - 135.7 -
Bond indenture............cccovvveererennnen. 51.0 63.1 2.7 2.8 9.4 48.2
Finance lease liabilities...................... 7.9 14.1 0.5 0.5 1.3 11.8
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan............ 200.0 297.0 19.0 19.0 259.0 -
INEOS Upstream loan .........cocceueeee. 571.5 571.5 - - 571.5 -
Other 10ans..........cccoveeiierieneriieeneenne 20.9 20.9 20.9 - - -
3,045.7 3,467.9 804.2 395.5 2,208.2 60.0
2014
5 years
Carrying Contractual 1 year or 1 to<2 2 to<S and
amount cash flows less years years over
€m
Non-derivative financial liabilities )
Trade payables ........ccocomvevicnncnnene 487.4 487.4 487.4 - - -
Other payables .........c.ccooevveereereeereenens 248.9 2489 232.0 16.9 - -
Senior Secured Term Loan..... 1,035.2 1,414.6 91.4 80.4 1,242.8 -
Amount due to related parties 435.7 435.7 41.0 394.7 - -
Securitisation facilities.................... 305.1 305.1 318 - 2733 -
Bond indenture............c.cccoereriernnnne. 48.0 589 23 24 8.0 46.2
Finance lease liabilities.............ccv.e... 8.0 14.6 0.5 0.5 1.4 12.2
Second lien PIK Toggle Loan... 200.0 314.1 17.1 19.0 57.0 221.0
Other 10ans.........coccveeeveeceiecieecieeceenee 25.6 25.6 25.6 - - -
2,793.9 33049 - 929.1 513.9 1,582.5 2794
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.e Market risk
Financial risk management

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates and
equity prices will adversely affect the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities or expected future cash
flows.

Market risk - Foreign currency risk

The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various
currency exposures, primarily with respect to the US Dollar and Sterling.

Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions, and recognised assets and liabilities.

A substantial portion of the Group’s revenue is generated in, or linked to, Sterling and the Euro.
.Product prices, certain feedstock costs and most other costs are denominated in US Dollar, Sterling and
Euro. In the US petrochemical and specialty chemicals businesses, product prices, raw materials costs
and most other costs are primarily denominated in US Dollars.

The Group applies hedge accounting to foreign currency differences arising on the retranslation of a
financial liability designated as a hedge of a net investment in a foreign operation. When the settlement
of a monetary item receivable from or payable to a foreign operation is neither planned nor likely in the
foreseeable future, foreign exchange gains and losses arising from such a monetary item is considered to
form part of a net investment in a foreign operation and changes in the fair value are recognised directly
within equity.

The Group generally does not enter into foreign currency exchange instruments to hedge foreign
currency transaction exposure, although the Group may do so in the future.

The Group benefits from natural hedging, to the extent that currencies in which net cash flows are
generated from the Group’s operations, are matched against long-term indebtedness.

The foreign currency exposure where the Group’s financial assets/ (liabilities) are not denominated in
the functional currency of the operating unit involved is shown below. Foreign exchange differences on
retranslation of these assets and liabilities are taken to the income statement/ other comprehensive
income of the Group. '

2015 2014
€m
BUTO. et ettt et e e st e et e e st e e et e e ee e nee e e - (66.1)
US AOMALS oo ee e eeeseseesesbeeeeseesesseeeseseseeseeeseseesesssessesessesssone (661.7) (14.3)
SEEIINE. .o 20.2 1.4
OUNET ... e 1.4 (2.2)
(640.1) (81.2)

Sensitivity analysis
A 10% percent weakening of the following currencies at 31 December would have increased/

(decreased) equity and profit/(loss) by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the
change occurred at the reporting date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.e Market risk (continued)

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular other exchange rates and interest rates,
remain constant. The analysis is performed on the same basis for the comparative period.

Equity Profit or loss
2015 2014 2015 2014
€m €m €m €m
EUFO..ciiiteciict s - - - (6.6)
US dollars ......ccoevvencrivnccinucnnann ettt (57.2) - %.0) (1.4)
SEELING. ottt ettt - - 2.0 0.1
ONET ..o veseere e eeenne - - 0.1 - (0.2)
(57.2) - 6.9) 8.1

A 10% percent strengthening of the above currencies against the Euro at 31 December would have had
the equal but opposite effect on the above currencies to the amounts shown above, on the basis that all
other variables remain constant.

Market risk — Interest rate risk

At the reporting date the interest rate profile of the Group’s interest-bearing financial instruments was:

2015 2014
€m
Carrying amount of liability
Fixed rate instruments
FINANCIAL @SSELS ...ovvvveeieeiiieeeiieeeeeiee e e e e e rea e e s sar e e e s ssbab s e e e ae e s e mneeeean - -
Financial labilitieS . .....cvoiieiiiueiieie e et eear e eaeeeesesdeaaeessaeeesneesennanns (415.5) (586.7)
(415.5) (586.7)
2015 2014
€m
Variable rate instruments
FINANCIAL @SSELS ....veeeeveeeeieecreeeieeireerereeeseeesieesserasteessaeaeneesseeresenesenesssesrasansnssens 567.2 -
Financial Habilities.......cc.ooovvieiiieieieeii et ees (1,093.7) (1,035.2)

(526.5) (1,035.2)

Sensitivity analysis

A change of 1 % in interest rates at the balance sheet date would have increased/(decreased) equity and
profit or loss by the amounts shown below. This calculation assumes that the change occurred at the
balance sheet date and had been applied to risk exposures existing at that date.

This analysis assumes that all other variables, in particular foreign currency rates, remain constant and
considers the effect of financial instruments with variable interest rates, financial instrument at fair value
through profit or loss or available for sale with fixed interest rates and the fixed rate element of interest
rate swaps. The analysis is performed on the same basis for comparative period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

22. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (continued)
22.e Market risk (continued)

2015 2014
€m

Profit or loss
Profit/(loss) on increase in interest rate by 1%6......cccocevenieoiniioiiicincccinnees 9.4) (15.4)

Market risk — Commodity price risk

The Group is exposed to commodity price risk through fluctuations in raw material prices and sales of
products. The raw material exposures result primarily from the price of feedstocks and base chemicals
linked to the price of crude. The sales price exposures are primarily related to petrochemicals where
prices are in general linked to the market price of crude oil.

The Group enters into contracts to supply or acquire physical volumes of commodities at future dates
during the normal course of business that may be considered derivative contracts. Where such contracts
exist and are in respect of the normal purchase or sale of products to fulfil the Group’s requirements, the
own use exemption from derivative accounting is applied.

The Group manages commodity price exposures through trading refined products and chemical
feedstock and using commodity swaps, options and futures as a means of managing price and timing
risks. In 2015 there were no significant instruments entered by the Group to manage such risk.

The Group operates within procedures and policies designed to ensure that risks, including those
relating to the default of counterparties, are minimised.

22.f Capital management

The Group’s objectives for managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Group defines its capital employed of €2,540.7 million (2014: €2,182.2 million) at 31 December
2015 as shareholders’ funds of €1,027.2 million (2014: €964.4 million) and net debt (net of debt issue
costs) of €1,513.5 million (2014: €1,217.8 million).

The principal sources of debt available to the group at 31 December 2015 include loans from related
parties are described in Note 16 along with the key operating and financial covenants that apply to these
facilities.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends paid to
shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell assets to reduce debt. The ability of the Group to
pay dividends and provide appropriate facilities to the Group is restricted by the terms of principal
financing agreements to which members of the Group are party.
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23. OPERATING LEASES

Future minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are payable as follows:

2015 2014

€m
LeSS than ONE YEAT.....ccceeeeiiiieieiiiteie ettt ee ettt s sse e n e et s e esaeenas 26.3 20.0
Between one and five Years..........cccoviiiiiiiniiciinicn e 76.8 51.4
More than fIVE YEArS .......ccocveviviririnieiiiitecciee e 284 44.9
' 131.5 1172

The Group leases a number of warehouse factory facilities and rail cars under operating leases. The
leases typically run for a period of 5 years, with an option to renew the lease after that date. Lease
payments are increased every five years to reflect market rentals. Some leases provide for additional
rent payments that are based on changes in a local price index.

24. CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

Outstanding capital expenditure authorised by the Board and for which contracts had been placed as at
31 December 2015 by the Group amounted to approximately €79.1 million (2014: €64.0 million).

25. RELATED PARTIES
Related party transactions
Related parties comprise:

INEOS AG;
Entities controlled by the shareholders of INEOS AG, the ultimate parent company of INEOS
Industries Limited; and ”

e Joint ventures.

Mr J A Ratcliffe, Mr A C Currie and Mr J Reece are the shareholders of INEOS AG. The Group has a
management services agreement with INEOS AG. INEOS AG owns a controlling interest in the share
capital of INEOS Industries Limited. Management fees of €10.9 million (2014: €nil million) were
charged in the year. During the year the Group was charged a deal fee of €7.0 million in relation to the
North Sea gas field acquisitions (2014: €10.0 million in relation to the acquisition of the Styrolution
business). At 31 December 2015 amounts owed to INEOS AG were €19.0 million (2014: €27.8
million).

There were a number of transactions with related parties, all of which arose in the normal course of
business. The Group has made sales to related parties of €104.7 million (2014: €34.1 million), recovered
costs of €17.0 million (2014: €10.3 million) and made purchases of €7.8 million (2014: €4.6 million). At
31 December 2015 €1,319.0 million (2014: €635.7 million) was owed to related parties and €23.0
million (2014: €133.1 million) was owed by related parties.

Compensation to key management personnel (including directors)

The Group defines key management as the directors of the Company. Details of Directors’
remuneration are given in Note 6.
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31 DECEMBER 2015

26. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2015 was INEOS AG, a company
registered in Switzerland.

The directors regard Mr J A Rafcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority
shareholding in INEOS AG.

27. SUBSEQUENT EVENTS

On 6 May 2016 the Group announced that it had reached an agreement in principle to sell the INEOS
Styrenics business to Synthos S.A. for €80 million. INEOS Styrenics produces Expandable Polystyrene
('EPS'). The transaction is expected to complete in the third quarter of 2016 and is subject to approval
from the relevant competition authorities.

28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS

The Group prepares its consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRSs, which require
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions which affect the application of the
accounting policies, and the reported amounts of assets, liabilities, income and expenses. Actual results
may differ from these estimates. The estimates and assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis.
Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimates change and in any
future periods.

The following areas are considered to involve a significant degree of judgement or estimation:
Fair value measurement on business combination

The amount of goodwill initially recognised as a result of a business combination is dependent on the
allocation of the purchase price to the fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities acquired. The
determination of the fair value of the acquired assets and liabilities is to a considerable extent based
upon management’s judgement, and estimates and assumptions made. :

Allocation of the purchase price affects the results of the Group as intangible assets are amortised over
their estimated useful lives, whereas goodwill, is not amortised. This could lead to differing
amortisation charges based on the allocation to indefinite and finite lived intangible assets.

On acquisition of a business, the identifiable intangible assets may include customer contracts, customer
relationships and preferential supply contracts. The fair value of these assets is determined by
discounting estimated future net cash flows generated by the asset. The use of different estimates and
assumptions for the expectations of future cash flows and the discount rate would change the valuation
of these intangible assets.

The carrying amount of intangibles is disclosed in Note 10.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Taxation

Management is required to estimate the tax payable in each of the jurisdictions in which the Group
operates. This involves estimating the actual current tax charge or credit together with assessing
temporary differences resulting from differing treatment of items for tax and accounting purposes.
These differences result in deferred tax assets and liabilities, which may be included on the consolidated
balance sheet of the Group. Management have performed an assessment as to the extent to which future
taxable profits will allow the deferred asset to be recovered. The calculation of the Group’s total tax
charge necessarily involves a significant degree of estimation in respect of certain items whose tax
treatment cannot be finally determined until resolution has been reached with the relevant tax authority,
or, as appropriate, through a formal legal process.

The Group has, from time to time, contingent tax liabilities arising from trading and corporate
transactions in the countries in which it operates. Afier appropriate consideration, management makes
provision for these liabilities based on the probable level of economic loss that may be incurred and
which is reliably measurable.

The breadth of the Group’s structure with operations in many geographic locations makes the use of
estimates and assumptions more challenging. The resolution of issues is not always within the control
of the Group and can be reliant upon the efficiency of the legal processes in the relevant jurisdictions in
which the Group operates, and as a result, issues can, and often do take many years to resolve.

Details of amounts recognised with regard to taxation are disclosed in Notes 8 and 13.
Post-retirement benefits

The Group operates a number of defined benefit post-employment schemes. Under IAS 19 Revised
Employee Benefits, management is required to estimate the present value of the future defined benefit
obligation of each of the defined benefit schemes. The costs and year end obligations under defined
benefit schemes are determined using actuarial valuations. The actuarial valuations involve making
numerous assumptions, including:

Future rate of increase in salaries;

Inflation rate projections; and

Discount rate for scheme liabilities.

Expected rates of return on the scheme assets.

Details of post-retirement benefits are set out in Note 18.
Provisions

Provisions are recognised for the cost of remediation works where there is a legal or constructive
obligation for such work to be carried out. Where the estimated obligation arises upon initial recognition
of the related asset, the corresponding debit is treated as part of the cost of the related asset and
depreciated over its estimated useful life.

Other provisions are recognised in the year when it becomes probable that there will be a future outflow
of funds resulting from past operations or events that can be reasonably estimated. The timing of
recognition requires the application of judgement to existing facts and circumstances, which can be
subject to change.
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28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)
Provisions (continued)

Estimates of the amounts of provisions recognised are based on current legal and constructive
requirements, technology and price levels. Because actual outflows can differ from estimates due to
changes in laws, regulations, public expectations, technology, prices and conditions, and can take place
many years in the future, the carrying amounts of provisions are regularly reviewed and adjusted to take
account of such changes.

The nature and amount of provisions included within the financial statements are detailed in Note 19.

Impairment reviews

IFRSs require management to test for impairment of goodwill and other intangible assets with indefinite.
lives, on an annual basis, and of tangible and intangible assets with finite lives if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of an asset may not be recoverable.

An impairment test requires an assessment as to whether the carrying value of assets can be supported
by its recoverable amount. Management calculates the recoverable amount based on the net present
value of the future cash flows derived from the relevant assets, using cash flow projections which have
been discounted at an appropriate discount rate.

In calculating the net present value of the future cash flows, certain assumptions and estimates are
required to be made in respect of highly uncertain matters, including management’s expectations of:

Growth rates of various revenue streams;

Long term growth rates;

Future margins;

The selection of an appropriately risk adjusted discount rate; and
The determination of terminal values.

Changing the assumptions selected by management, in particular the discount rate used in the present
value calculation, could significantly affect the Group’s impairment evaluation and results.

For the purpose of impairment testing (when required), to assess whether any impairment exists,
estimates are made of the future cash flows expected to result from the use of the asset and its eventual
disposal. Actual outcomes could vary significantly from such estimates of discounted future cash flows.
Factors such as changes in the planned use of buildings, plant or equipment, or closure of facilities, the
presence or absence of competition, lower than expected asset utilisation from events such as unplanned
outages, strikes and hurricanes, technical obsolescence or lower than anticipated sales of products with
capitalised intellectual property rights could result in shortened useful lives or impairment. Changes in
the discount rates used could also lead to impairments.

Useful economic lives of tangible assets

The annual depreciation charge for tangible assets is sensitive to changes in the estimated useful
economic lives and residual values of the assets. The useful economic lives and residual values are re-
assessed annually. They are amended when necessary to reflect current estimates, based on
technological advancement, future investments, economic utilisation and the physical condition of the
assets. See Note 9 for the carrying amount of the property plant and equipment, and Note 1 for the
useful economic lives for each class of assets.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 DECEMBER 2015

28. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS (continued)

Impairment of receivables

The Group makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other receivables. When assessing
impairment of trade and other receivables, management considers factors including the current credit

rating of the debtor, the ageing profile of receivables and historical experience. See Note 15 for the net
carrying amount of the debtors and associated impairment provision.

Investments

The Group applies IFRS 11 to all joint arrangements. Under IFRS 11investments in joint ventures are
classified as either joint operations or joint ventures depending on the contractual rights and obligations
of each investor. The Group has assessed the nature of its joint arrangements and determined them to be
joint ventures. Joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method.

Details of Investments are set out in Note 11.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

Report on the company financial statements

Our opinion

In our opinion, INEOS Industries Limited’s company financial statements (the “financial statements™):
e give a true and fair view of the state of the company’s affairs as at 31 December 2015;
e  have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted

Accounting Practice; and :
e have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

What we have audited

The financial statements, included within the Directors' Report and Financial Statements (the “Annual
Report”), comprise:

e the company balance sheet as at 31 December 2015;

e the company statement of changes in equity for the year then ended; and

e the notes to the financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting
policies and other explanatory information.

The financial reporting framework that has been applied in the preparation of the financial statements
is United Kingdom Accounting Standards, comprising FRS 101 “Reduced Disclosure Framework”, and
applicable law (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

In applying the financial reporting framework, the directors have made a number of subjective
judgements, for example in respect of significant accounting estimates. In making such estimates, they
have made assumptions and considered future events.

Opinion on other matter prescribed by the Companies
Act 2006

In our opinion, the information given in the Strategic Report and the Directors’ Report for the financial
year for which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements.

Other matters on which we are required to report by
exception

Adequacy of accounting records and information and explanations received
Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

e we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit; or

e adequate accounting records have not been kept by the company, or returns adequate for our
audit have not been received from branches not visited by us; or

o the financial statements are not in agreement with the accounting records and returns.

We have no exceptions to report arising from this responsibility.

Directors’ remuneration

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, certain disclosures of
directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made. We have no exceptions to report arising from
this responsibility.



INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF INEOS INDUSTRIES
LIMITED

. Responsibilities for the ﬁnanc1al statements and the
audlt -

Our responsibilities and those of the directors

As explained more fully in the Statement of directors’ responsibilities set ouit on pages 7 and 8, the
directors are responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they
give a true and fair view.

Our responsibility is to audit and express an bopinion on the financial statements in accordance with
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) (“ISAs (UK & Ireland)”).
Those standards require us to comply with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for
Auditors.

This report, including the opinions, has been prepared for and only for the company’s members as a
body in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the Companies Act 2006 and for no other purpose. We
do not, in giving these opinions, accept or assume responsibility for any other purpose or to any other
person to whom this report is shown or into whose hands it may come save where expressly agreed by
our prior consent in writing.

What an audit of financial statements involves

We conducted our audit in accordance with ISAs (UK & Ireland). An audit involves obtaining evidence
about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient to give reasonable assurance
that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused by fraud or error.
This includes an assessment of:

¢ whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the company’s circumstances and have
been consistently applied and adequately disclosed;

e thereasonableness of significant accounting estimates made by the directors; and

e the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We primarily focus our work in these areas by assessing the directors’ judgements against available
evidence, forming our own judgements, and evaluating the disclosures in the financial statements.

We test and examine information, using sampling and other auditing techniques, to the extent we
consider necessary to provide a reasonable basis for us to draw conclusions. We obtain audit evidence
through testing the effectiveness of controls, substantive procedures or a combination of both.

In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report to identify
material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements and to identify any information that is
apparently materially incorrect based on, or materially inconsistent with, the knowledge acquired by us
in the course of performing the audit. If we become aware of any apparent material misstatements or
inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report.

Other matter

We have reported separately on the group financial statements of INEOS Industries Limited for the
year ended 31 December 2015.

Marsden (Senior Statutory Auditor)
for and on behalf of PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Statutory Auditors
Newecastle upon Tyne
31 May 2016
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COMPANY BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 DECEMBER 2015

Note 2015 2014
€m

Fixed assets
[NVESEMENES ...o.evieeeeieeeereerereccee e eteereereneeebae e iteaeneaaaneenne 4 9.4 9.4
Total fixed assets 9.4 9.4
Current assets . )
DIEBLOTS. ..ttt ettt e et et es 5 : 2.3 -
CASH ..ttt ettt st s b e s st sae et 04 -
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year ..........cucerueeuneene. 6 (1.7) (8.3)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 1.0 (8.3)
Total assets less current liabilities. 10.4 1.1
Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year .......... 7 (10.3) (1.0)
Net assets 0.1 0.1
Capital and reserves
Called up share capital 8 - -
Profit and loss account 9 0.1 0.1
Total shareholders’ funds 0.1 0.1

The notes on pages 79 to 82 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.

The financial statements on pages 77 to 82 were approved by the Board of Directors on 31 May
2016 and signed on its behalf by:

Leask
Director
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COMPANY STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY FOR THE YEAR ENDED
' 31 DECEMBER 2015

Balance at 1 January 2014

Profit for the }'ear .......................................................

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in

equity:

DAVIAENA....oeeioirieeeeeeeeee e

Balance at 31 December 2014

Balance at 1 January 2015

Profit for the year.........c.ccooceeiiiviiniiiiiiiceee

Transactions with owners, recorded directly in
equity:

Dividend.........ueeiiiiieeeeeeeeeeee e e e

Balance at 31 December 2015

Called up Total
Share "Profit and shareholders’
Note Capital loss account (deficit)/funds
€m
- 02) 02)
9 - 43 43
- 4.0) (4.0)
- 0.1 0.1
Called up Total
Share Profit and shareholders’
Note Capital loss account (deficit)/funds
€m
- 0.1 0.1
9 - 10.8 10.8
- (10.8) (10.8)
- 0.1 0.1

The notes on pages 79 to 82 are an integral part of these Company financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES
Overview

INEOS Industries Limited (the “Company”) is a private company limited by shares incorporated and
domiciled in the UK. The registered office address is Hawkslease, Chapel Lane, Lyndhurst, Hampshire SO43
TEG.

Basis of accounting

The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with applicable accounting standards, on a going
concern basis and under the historical cost accounting rules.

Under section s408 of the Companies Act 2006 the Company is exempt from the requirement to present its
own profit and loss account.

These financial statements were prepared in accordance with Financial Reporting Standard 101 Reduced
Disclosure Framework (“FRS 1017).

In these financial statements, the Company has applied the exemptions available under FRS 101 in respect of
the following disclosures:

a Cash Flow Statement and related notes;

comparative year reconciliations for share capital;

disclosures in respect of transactions with wholly owned subsidiaries;
disclosures in respect of capital management;

financial instrument disclosures as required by [FRS 7.

the effects of new but not yet effective IFRSs; and

disclosures in respect of the compensation of Key Management Personnel.

The accounting policies set out below have, unless otherwise stated, been applied consistently in these
Company financial statements.

Measurement convention
The financial statements are prepared on the historical cost basis.
Functional and presentation currency

These Group financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the functional currency of the majority of
operations. The Group primarily generates income, incurs expenditure and has the majority of its assets and
liabilities denominated in euros. The exchange rate as at 31 December 2015 was $1:€0.9163 and $1:€1.3599.
All amounts in the financial statements have been rounded to the nearest €100,000. '
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

1. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Classification of financial instruments issued by the Company

Following the adoption of IAS 32, financial instruments issued by the Company are treated as equity only to
the extent that they meet the following two conditions:

a) they include no contractual obligations upon the Company to deliver cash or other financial assets or
to exchange financial assets or financial liabilities with another party under conditions that are
potentially unfavourable to the Company; and

b) where the instrument will or may be settled in the Company’s own equity instruments, it is either a
non-derivative that includes no obligation to deliver a variable number of the Company’s own equity
instruments or is a derivative that will be settled by the Company’s exchanging a fixed amount of
cash or other financial assets for a fixed number of its own equity instruments.

To the extent that this definition is not met, the proceeds of issue are classified as a financial liability. Where
the instrument so classified takes the legal form of the Company’s own shares, the amounts presented in these
financial statements for called up share capital and share premium account exclude amounts in relation to
those shares.

Non-derivative financial instruments

Non-derivative financial instruments comprise investments in equity and debt securities, trade and other
receivables, cash and cash equivalents, loans and borrowings, and trade and other payables.

Trade and other debtors

Trade and other debtors are recognised initially at fair value plus transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method, less any impairment losses.

Trade and other creditors

Trade and other creditors are recognised initially at fair value less transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue. Subsequent to initial recognition they are measured at amortised cost using the
effective interest method.

Cash at bank and in hand

Cash at bank and in hand comprise cash balances and call deposits. Bank overdrafts that are repayable on
demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management are included as a component of cash and
cash equivalents for the purpose only of the statement of cash flows.

Interest-bearing borrowings

Interest-bearing borrowings are recognised initially at fair value less attributable transaction costs. Subsequent
to initial recognition, interest-bearing borrowings are stated at amortised cost using the effective interest
method.
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

2. STAFF NUMBERS AND COSTS

There were no (2014: no) employees with contracts of employment in the name of the Company.

3. DIRECTORS’ RENUMERATION

None (2014: none) of the directors received any fees or remuneration for services as a director of the Company
during the financial year.

4. INVESTMENTS

The subsidiary and undertakings of the Company at 31 December and the percentage of equity share capital
held are set out below.

Ownership
Country of Class of
incorporation shares held 2015 2014
INEOS Industries Holdings Limited...................... UK Ordinary 100% 100%
Joint Associated
Subsidiaries ventures undertakings Total
€m
At 31 December 2015 and 2014.............cccccvveuneen 9.4 - - 9.4
5. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES
2015 2014
€m
Current
Amounts due from group undertakings.........ccccccoveervreceerceennenneerenneeninenne 1.4 -
Other reCEIVADIES .....ocvieiieiieiieiieit ettt 0.9 -
2.3 -
6. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE WITHIN ONE YEAR
2015 . 2014
€m
Amounts owed to related parties .........ccccoovvvveeiinerenieeneeeneces fressrassasssrassints - . 83
Other PaYabIEs .....coccooviiiiiiiiie et e 1.7 -
1.7 83
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NOTES TO THE COMPANY FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2015

7. CREDITORS: AMOUNTS FALLING DUE AFTER MORE THAN ONE YEAR

2015 2014
€m
Amounts owed to related parties............c.oeeeeieerniniiinn e - 1.0
Amounts owed to group undertakings. .........c.cooeceeeeerieneenieneniiennennee e 4.1 -
Other payabIes ...t 6.2
10.3 1.0
8. CALLED UP SHARE CAPITAL
2015 2014
€m
Fully paid
197,500 (2014: 197,500) ordinary shares of £0.00001 each ...........ccocceceenienee - -
9. PROFIT AND LOSS ACCOUNT
2015 2014
€m
AL LT JANUATY ..o r ettt ettt et e sa e nr e 0.1 0.2)
Profit for the year 10.8 43
Dividend PAId.......ccoueeveeriieeieerce et e (10.8) (4.0)
At 31 December 0.1 0.1

The directors of the Company have proposed and paid a dividend of €10.8 million (€54.68 per share) during
the year (2014: €4.0 million (€20.19 per share)).

10. ULTIMATE PARENT UNDERTAKING AND CONTROLLING PARTY

The immediate and ultimate parent undertaking at 31 December 2015 was INEOS AG, a company registered
in Switzerland.

The directors regard Mr J A Ratcliffe to be the ultimate controlling party by virtue of his majority shareholding
in INEOS AG.

The only group in which the results of the Company are consolidated is that headed by INEOS Industries
Limited.

11. ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGEMENTS
Impairment of debtors

The Company makes an estimate of the recoverable value of trade and other debtors. When assessing
impairment of trade and other debtors, management considers factors including the current credit rating of the
debtor, the ageing profile of debtors and historical experience.
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